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To have IronRock become the most 
sought-after insurer, pioneering the 
industry in professionalism, simplicity, 
efficiency and fairness.

Simple. Fair. Safe.

We make the insuring process as 
seamless as possible by reducing 
paperwork. We use technology to make 
the underwriting and claims settlement 
process fast and simple. 

We believe in the principle of utmost 
good faith – we therefore trust our 
clients as they trust us. 

We are financially strong with solid, 
experienced management giving our 
policyholders superior confidence in the 
protection we provide.

To operate a sound and financially 
strong insurance company, providing 
the best insurance solutions for our 
policyholders through highly trained 
and motivated employees, ultimately 
achieving superior returns for our 
shareholders, while upholding our 
core values of: 

1. Professionalism;
2. Honesty;
3. Integrity; and
4. Efficiency.

MISSION STATEMENT

VALUE PROPOSITION

VISION STATEMENT
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1.	 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of IronRock Insurance Compa-
ny Limited (the “Company”) will be held at the AC Hotel by Marriott, 38-42 Lady Musgrave 
Road, Kingston on Tuesday, 3rd of December 2024 starting at 3:30 p.m. to consider, and if 
thought fit, pass the following resolutions.

DATED THIS 
30th day of September 2024

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Richard Fraser
Company Secretary
IronRock Insurance Company Limited
1b Braemar Avenue
Kingston 10, Jamaica

Ordinary Resolutions
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Resolution No. 1 – Receipt of Audited Accounts
“THAT the Audited Financial Statements, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2023 be and are hereby received and adopted by the Company.” 

Resolution No. 2 – Dividend
“THAT the interim dividend of $0.0325 per stock unit declared 2 May 2023 for shareholders on 
record as at 19 May 2023, and paid 30 June 2023 be declared as final dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2023.”

Resolution No. 3 – Retirement and Re-election of Directors
“THAT each of the following directors, who has retired by rotation in accordance with the Articles of 
Incorporation of the Company and being eligible, now offers himself or herself for re-election, be and 
is hereby re-elected:” 
a.	 “That Gary Peart be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.” 
b.	 “That Jan Polack be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.” 
c.	 “That Wayne Hardie be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.” 

Resolution No. 4 – Re-election of Director
“THAT Richard Fraser, who having been appointed subsequent to the last Annual General Meeting 
and in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, being eligible, now offers 
herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected:” 
“That Richard Fraser be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

Resolution No. 5 – Directors’ Remuneration
“THAT the Board be and is hereby authorized to fix the 
remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ending 
31 December 2024.” 

Resolution No. 6 – Re-Appointment of Auditors 
“THAT upon the resignation of the Company’s current 
auditors, KPMG, that PWC Chartered Accountants, having 
signified their willingness to be appointed, be and are hereby 
appointed as the Auditors of the Company to hold office 
until the next Annual General Meeting at a remuneration to 
be fixed by the Directors of the Company.”



Eligibility to Vote
The Directors of the Company have determined that your eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM 
requires you to be a registered shareholder as at the close of business on 31 March 2024 (the “Record 
Date”). 

A list of registered shareholders who are eligible to attend and vote at the meeting will be available at the 
Company’s registered office at 1b Braemar Avenue, Kingston 10, Jamaica during normal business hours 
leading up to the AGM. Shareholders may also phone (876) 656-8000 to confirm they are registered.

Proof of Identity
Shareholders (or their proxies) will be required to provide proof of their identity for the purposes of 
attending and voting at the AGM. Please bring identification for these purposes, including, but not limited 
to, a driver’s license, passport or a similar official document

Appointing a Proxy for the AGM – Individual Shareholders
As a registered shareholder as at the Record Date, you are entitled to appoint a proxy to represent 
you if you are not able to attend the AGM in person. A proxy does not need to be a shareholder of the 
Company.

If you would like to appoint a proxy, please complete the form included at the end of the Annual Report 
and submit it to the Company not less than 48 hours before the AGM. In order to be considered valid, 
the proxy form must have affixed to it a JMD $100 postage stamp. If the proxy is acting as attorney 
under a power of attorney, a certified copy of the power of attorney document should also be attached. 

For joint shareholders, the proxy notice must be signed and submitted by the shareholder whose name 
appears first in the register of members of the Company.

If you have appointed a proxy, but circumstances change and you then decide to attend the AGM, 
instead of your proxy, you may do so without giving further notice to the Company.   

Appointing an Authorised Corporate Representative for the AGM – Corporate Shareholders
A corporation that is a shareholder of the Company may authorise a person to act as its representative 
at the AGM. The representative does not need to be a shareholder of the Company. The authorisation 
should be provided to the Company in the form of a certified copy of the resolution of the Board, power of 
attorney, or otherwise, not less than 48 hours before the AGM. The authorised corporate representative 
is then entitled to attend and vote at the AGM in the usual way. 

2.	 NOTES TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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1. Audited Financial Statements and Annual Report
This agenda item provides for the presentation of the Company’s Audited Financial Statements, Director’s 
Report and Auditor’s Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2023. 

It also provides shareholders with the opportunity to ask questions about the Financial Statements and 
Reports, and about the performance of the Company in general.

2. Retirement and Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, at least 1/3 of the Board of Directors, or 
the number nearest 1/3, must retire from office prior to each AGM.  This is done in accordance with good 
governance practice. 

Retiring directors are eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. The detailed biography of 
each Director is included in the Annual Report and can also be found on the Company’s website (www.
ironrockjamaica.com).

3. Directors’ Remuneration
The Board seeks the customary authorisation to set the remuneration of the Directors inclusive of the 
executive and non-executive directors.

4. Appointment of Auditors & Auditor’s Remuneration 
In accordance with good governance practice, the auditors of the Company resign prior to the AGM, and, 
being eligible, may offer themselves up for re-appointment. The Company has considered the services 
it seeks to engage and has decided to officially change its auditors from KPMG to PWC, Chartered 
Accountants and proposes to appoint and retain PWC as the Company’s auditor for the forthcoming 
financial year.

The resolution also provides the Board with the authority to negotiate the external auditors’ service 
contract and to set their pay for services to the Company in the upcoming financial year.

 NOTES ON THE PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS FOR THE AGM
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS

W. David McConnell
Chairman 

IronRock Insurance
Company Limited

I am pleased to report on IronRock Insurance Company’s performance 
and progress during 2023.

Amid a steadily growing Jamaican economy, IronRock faced notable 
challenges such as the significant reduction in reinsurance capacity in 
the property market, coupled with rising catastrophe reinsurance costs. 
As climate change continues to increase the frequency and severity of 
weather events, reinsurers have responded by reducing their exposure 
to property catastrophe risks and demanding higher premiums. As a 
result, the local market underwent a substantial price correction in the 
property market during 2023, and IronRock has successfully leveraged 
these dynamics to our advantage, showcasing our resilience and 
strategic adaptability. 

IronRock’s financial performance in 2023 has shown tremendous improvement. Our Insurance Revenue 
grew robustly to $1.395 billion, representing an increase of 41% compared to 2022. This growth was driven 
by our strategic objectives and the adaptability of our team in managing our reinsurance programme and 
the capacity utilization within our portfolio.

During the year, our management team also worked diligently to implement the new International 
Accounting Standards, IFRS 17 & IFRS 9. These new standards have impacted the way insurance companies 
account for their business and present their financial statements, and I am pleased to report that we are 
fully compliant with these standards as of January 1, 2023.

The company has incurred significant expenses to comply with these new standards and as a result our non-
core Operating Expenses increased by 14% to $118 million, while our Insurance Service Expense increased 
by 15% to $565 million. Net expenses from reinsurance increased to $710 million, representing a 62% 
increase over 2022, and highlighting the challenges faced from the reinsurance market. Notwithstanding 
these increases in our expenses, our Insurance Service Result showed a remarkable 90% increase to $119.7 
million, which reflects the management team’s continued dedication to prudent underwriting standards.

The implementation of IFRS 17 has also resulted in changes to the way we present our Assets and 
Liabilities on our Balance Sheet. Our Insurance Reserves for outstanding claims and remaining coverage 
are now classified under Insurance Contract Liabilities, and this amount has grown by 46% to $777 million, 
reflecting our commitment to maintaining robust financial reserves and enhancing our ability to meet 
policyholder obligations. This growth underscores our dedication to financial prudence and resilience, 
ensuring that we are well-positioned to fulfill our long-term commitments and sustain our operational 
integrity.

Our investment portfolio also performed well in 2023, growing by 15% and hitting the $1 billion milestone 
for the first time. Other Income grew from $7.5 million in 2022 to $20 million in 2023 (a 166% increase), 
while our Investment Income increased by 22% to $78.8 million. IronRock ended the year with cash and 

6



investments totaling $1.026 billion and the effective yield on our investment portfolio for 2023 was an 
impressive 12.9%.

As a result of the significant increases in our Insurance Service Result, our Investment Returns and our Other 
Income, IronRock generated a pre-tax profit of $103.1 million in 2023, a significant improvement from $36 
million in 2022. This improvement underscores our ability to adapt and thrive in a challenging economic 
environment. As we remain dedicated to our mission of providing exceptional insurance solutions, I wish 
to extend my gratitude to our management and staff for their commitment and professionalism during 
the year. 

It is with a heavy heart that I acknowledge the passing of our esteemed Director and Company Secretary, 
Anthony Bell. Anthony’s dedication and service to IronRock were exemplary, and his contributions have 
left an indelible mark on our company. We honor his memory and legacy, and he will be deeply missed by 
all who had the privilege of working with him.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge and thank our clients, brokers, and agents for their continued trust 
and support, and to express my confidence in our ability to achieve sustained growth and success in the 
years ahead.

W. David McConnell
Chairman
IronRock Insurance Company Limited
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DIRECTORS REPORT

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their Report 
together with the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 
for the year ended December 31, 2023.
 
The Directors hereby confirm that to the best of their knowledge the 
accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.

Richard Fraser
Company Secretary 
IronRock Insurance
Company Limited
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Dividends
On June 30, 2023, a dividend payment in the amount of $0.0325 per unit was made to shareholders on 
record as of May 19, 2023.

Directors
In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, at least 1/3 of the Board of Directors must 
retire from office prior to each Annual General Meeting. Directors David McConnell, Raymond Therrien and 
Janene Shaw are retiring this year and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election by the shareholders. 

In November 2023, Christopher Berry, who has served on the Board of Directors since 2017, resigned 
from his position. We extend our appreciation for his dedicated service and significant contributions to 
the company during his tenure. 

Auditors
The Auditors, KPMG, must retire from office prior to the Annual General Meeting and the Company has 
decided to official change its auditors and accepts KPMG’s retirement and resignation and to in turn 
appoint PWC, Chartered Accountants in its place.  A resolution authorising PWC, Chartered Accountants 
appointment and authorising the Directors to fix their remuneration for the coming financial year will also 
be presented at the Annual General Meeting.

DATED THIS 
30th day of September 2024

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Richard Fraser
Company Secretary
IronRock Insurance Company Limited
1b Braemar Avenue
Kingston 10, Jamaica
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

W. DAVID MCCONNELL
Chairman

David McConnell was appointed 
Chairman of IronRock in October 
2018.

Mr. McConnell is also Co-Managing 
Director and Co-Founder of Select 
Brands Limited. In November 2017 
he was appointed Chairman of 
Supreme Ventures Limited where 
he has overseen a revitalisation 
of the company’s operations. Mr. 
McConnell was also appointed to 
the Board of Directors of Scotia 
Group Jamaica Limited in May 
2018 . Previously he has held the 
position of Managing Director of 
Sales and Marketing for J Wray 
and Nephew Limited and General 
Manager for their Export Division.

Mr. McConnell has an MBA in 
Marketing Finance from the 
University of Miami and a Bachelors 
in Marketing and International 
Business from Florida International 
University

Evan Thwaites is a Chartered 
Insurer and an Associate of the 
Chartered Insurance Institute 
(ACII). As the Managing Director 
of the Company he has primary 
oversight for its operations and 
the execution of its strategic 
business plan.

Mr. Thwaites was educated 
at Wolmer’s Boys’ School and 
completed management training 
courses in the U.S.A., the United 
Kingdom and Germany for the 
purposes of his professional 
development in the insurance 
and reinsurance industry. He 
spent over 30 years with Globe 
Insurance Company of Jamaica 
Limited (and its predecessor entity, 
Globe Insurance Company of the 
West Indies Limited), prior to its 
acquisition by Guardian Group, 
where he served as Managing 
Director. He subsequently worked 
as a consultant for Grace Kennedy 
Financial Services Limited and 
served as a Director of Jamaica 
International Insurance Company 
Limited, prior to forming IronRock.

Wayne Hardie is a member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (ACCA) and a past 
member of the Association of 
Accounting Technicians (AAT). 
As the Finance Director of the 
Company he has responsibility 
for accounting and investment 
operations, as well as regulatory 
compliance.

Mr. Hardie is a graduate of Calabar 
High School and received overseas 
training for the purposes of his 
professional development in the 
insurance industry in Canada. He 
spent nearly 30 years with Globe 
Insurance Company of Jamaica 
Limited (and its predecessor entity, 
Globe Insurance Company of the 
West Indies Limited), prior to its 
acquisition by Guardian Group, 
where he was Financial Controller. 
He subsequently joined Guardian 
General Insurance Company of 
Jamaica Limited where he was 
Associate Vice President, I.T., Risk 
and Compliance.

R. E. D. THWAITES 
Managing Director

WAYNE N. T. HARDIE 
Finance Director
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

ANTHONY BELL
Company Secretary

Anthony Bell is an independent 
non-executive Director of the 
Company and brings to the Board 
his experience in management 
gained at a senior level in many 
prominent local companies.

Mr. Bell is a graduate of Jamaica 
College and South West London 
College, and he has worked as an 
accountant and financial controller 
throughout his career. He served 
as Managing Director of J. Wray 
and Nephew Limited and Chief 
Financial Officer of Lascelles de 
Mercado group of companies for 
over 30 years, retiring in 2011.

Jan Polack is currently the Chief 
Financial Officer of Couples 
Resorts, where her primary focus 
is to oversee the financial and 
administrative operations and 
continued expansion, in which she 
plays an integral role.

Ms. Polack joined IronRock in 
January 2017 as an independent 
non-executive Director. Prior to 
these appointments Ms. Polack 
served as Financial Controller at 
a number of companies, most 
recently at Caribbean Producers, 
and is a former Director of 
the Montego Bay Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry. Ms. 
Polack is a Certified Public 
Accountant (CPA) and holds a 
bachelor of Accounting from St. 
Leo’s College, Florida.

Mr. Gary H. Peart has been 
the Chief Executive Officer of 
Mayberry Investments Limited 
since 2005, and has served on 
its Board of Directors since 
2006. He has over twenty years 
of experience in the Jamaican 
financial industry, having worked in 
senior positions at leading financial 
institutions throughout his career, 
gaining experience in almost every 
business line including Corporate 
Finance, Equity, Fixed Income and 
Treasury Management.

Mr. Peart also serves as the 
Deputy Chairman on the Board 
of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
and currently serves as Treasurer 
of the Jamaica Securities Dealers 
Association. He also serves as 
a Director at several other well-
known Jamaican institutions 
including; LASCO Financial 
Services Limited and Lasco 
Distributors Limited.

JAN POLLACK 
Independent Director

GARY PEART 
Non-executive Director
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

Christian Tavares-Finson joined 
IronRock on the 1st of January 
2020 as a non-executive Director. 
Mr. Tavares-Finson is a prominent 
Attorney-at-law. 

A graduate of McMasters 
University, he attended Norman 
Manley Law School and was 
admitted to the Jamaican Bar 
Association in 2009.  In 2017 he 
was appointed as a Notary Public 
for the Parish of Kingston and 
St Andrew. He sits on several 
boards, including the Board of 
the Kingston Free Zone, and is 
passionate about charity work 
and his involvement in the 4Y’s 
Foundation is testament to this.

Mr. Tavares-Finson was appointed 
Honorary Consul of the Kingdom 
of Netherlands in Jamaica in 2017 
and serves as Justice of the Peace.

Janene Shaw joined IronRock’s 
Board of Directors in May 2021 
as an independent non-executive 
Director. 
Ms. Shaw is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant with over 25 years’ 
experience and a proven track 
record in financial management, 
accounting and auditing. 
Prior to joining the Board of 
IronRock, Ms. Shaw was the Finance 
of Director of Carreras from 
where she was responsible for the 
Strategic Financial Management 
of the Company and also acted as 
Company Secretary. Prior to that, 
Ms. Shaw was employed at J. Wray 
& Nephew Limited / Lascelles 
deMercado & Co. Limited where 
she held various senior finance 
positions being General Manager, 
Finance & Administration – JWN 
Agricultural Division, Group 
Financial Officer and Accounting 
and Treasury Director. Prior to 
that, Janene was employed at 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers where 
she gained progressive audit 
experience to the level of Audit 
Manager.

Raymond (Ray) Therrien joined 
IronRock on the 1st of January 
2020 as an independent non-
executive Director.

Mr. Therrien has been an executive 
Director of Fontana Limited for 
the past 18 years, and is the 
Chief Operations Officer of the 
company. At Fontana, Mr. Therrien 
oversees all aspects of Finance 
and the day to day operations of 
the organization, with key areas 
of focus being the pharmacy 
department and logistics for all 
overseas purchasing.

Prior to working at Fontana, Ray 
held senior sales and marketing 
roles for some of Canada’s largest 
pharmaceutical companies – 
including Sanofi Aventis and 
Roche. Mr. Therrien holds a BSc 
in Mathematics from McMaster 
University, Hamilton, Canada.

CHRISTIAN TAVARES-FINSON 
Non-executive Director

JANENE SHAW 
Independent Non-executive 
Director

RAYMOND THERRIEN 
Independent Director
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Introduction
2023 was a year of strategic navigation through challenging market dynamics, marked by reduced 
catastrophe reinsurance capacity and significant property rate increases. Management is pleased with 
our team’s resilience and adaptability with the management of our portfolio against this backdrop, 
which has resulted in continued growth for the company. For the Financial Year ending 31st December 
2023, IronRock exceeded $1.6B in Gross Written Premium (GWP), grew its investment portfolio 
to over $1B and generated a Pre-tax Profit of over $100m. This discussion provides insight into our 
performance across various segments, our operational efficiencies, and presents our outlook into 2024. 

Premium 
IronRock outpaced industry growth in Gross Written Premium (GWP) across several segments in 2023, 
according to the latest statistics from the Insurance Association of Jamaica (IAJ).

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

Property
In 2023, the Jamaican property 
insurance market faced 
significant challenges, primarily 
due to reduced catastrophe 
reinsurance capacity. This 
situation led to rate increases 
of up to 100% for some risks as 
well as increases in catastrophe 
deductibles and catastrophe 
reinsurance costs. Through 
the implementation of a risk-
adjusted pricing model, and 
various corresponding risk 
mitigation strategies, we 
were not only able to reduce 
our exposure to high-risk 
segments, but also achieved 
critical KPIs set by our reinsurers in order to maintain stability in our reinsurance programme. This all 
culminated in the company achieving an increase of 66% in the GWP for our Property segment versus 
46% for the industry average growth.

Motor & Liability
There have been steady increases in motor claims costs due to inflation and supply chain issues, and 
accordingly management implemented a rate increase across the portfolio at the beginning of 2023, 
noting that there have been no corresponding increase in policy lapses. As a result, the Motor and Liability 
portfolios showed strong performance, with a noteworthy increase in Motor premiums of 16% over the 
previous year. The Liability segment also performed well, remaining stable compared to 2022 and aligning 
closely with budget expectations.

14



15

Accident & Marine
The Accident and Marine segments exhibited positive growth as well (33% over 2022), with Accident GWP 
surpassing both budgeted and previous year figures. The Marine segment, in particular, saw exceptional 
growth, driven in part by targeted marketing initiatives and our robust online platform. This strategic 
achievement contributed to a substantial increase in GWP and a considerably lower Earned Loss Ratio, 
highlighting the segment’s strong performance and potential for generating significant annual premiums.

The company’s overall growth in GWP was also significantly ahead of the industry growth (46% vs 31%).
Our nimble approach to the market conditions has led to an overall market share increase of over 11%, 
climbing from 1.67% to 1.85% as of at the end of FY December 2023. The Property segment saw a 14% 
increase in market share, while the Accident & Marine experienced a 18% rise.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS



Underwriting 
Gross Loss Ratio
In 2023, IronRock continued to demonstrate our commitment to our prudent underwriting standards, 
reflected in our Gross Loss Ratio (GLR). Starting the year with a focus on refined risk assessments and 
enhanced claims management processes, we achieved a GLR of 16%, a marked improvement from the 
previous years. This compares favourably against the industry average, which saw a higher fluctuation, 
peaking at 79% in 2022 before settling at 28% in 2023. Our effective risk selection and claims management 
have consistently minimized losses, enabling better financial stability and profitability.

Earned Loss Ratio
Similarly, the Earned Loss Ratio (ELR) for IronRock has seen significant improvement and by the end 
of 2023, our ELR was 41%, showing operational success in claims handling, expense management 
and our reinsurance arrangements. This is a substantial achievement compared to the industry 
average of 65%, demonstrating our competitive edge in managing risks and maintaining profitability. 

The improvements in both Gross and Earned Loss Ratios are a direct result of our strategic initiatives, 
including:
•	 Enhanced Underwriting Standards: Maintaining our prudent underwriting criteria and leveraging 	
	 data analytics to better understand our portfolio.
•	 Claims Management Efficiency: Streamlining claims processes and utilizing technology for faster 	
	 claims settlement.
•	 Focused Risk Management: Concentrating on lower-risk markets and adjusting portfolio 		
	 compositions to reduce volatility and improve loss experiences. 
These ratios reflect not only our ability to manage and anticipate risks but also our commitment 
to operational excellence. As we move into 2024, we aim to further these improvements through 
continuous refinement of our risk assessment models and claims handling procedures, ensuring that our 
financial health remains strong and resilient against market variances.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Operations
Operational efficiency remained a cornerstone of our strategy, focusing on expense management and 
productivity enhancements. Despite the market’s upward pressure on operational costs, we maintained 
a disciplined approach to expense ratios, ensuring that our growth did not come at the expense of 
profitability. This has resulted in a 23% improvement in our productivity, moving from $73m/employee to 
$89m/employee, thus maintaining our Top 3 ranking in productivity across the market. Additionally, we have 
achieved another important milestone of reducing our Gross Expense Ratio to 5% below the IAJ average. 
 
Notwithstanding the above achievements, one major change which had a significant impact on our 
expenses was the implementation of IFRS 17. As this new accounting standard became effective as of 
January 1, 2023, the company had to allocate significant resources to its implementation, resulting in 
an increase in the time taken for the preparation, valuation and presentation of our actuarial reports, 
financial statements, and this annual report.



How does the IFRS 17 Standard Impact our Financial Statements?
The main goal of the new standard is to increase transparency, and uniformity across financial reports for 
insurance companies.

Transitioning into the framework of this new standard comes with insights compared to its predecessor, 
IFRS 4. The old standard allowed different companies to utilise multiple different treatments when it 
came to the handling and recording of insurance contracts. The new standard provides more uniformity 
in the presentation of financial statements across insurance entities. It also provides more information to 
stakeholders which fosters better decision making.
 
IFRS 17 was designed to allocate revenue more equitably and apportion expenses across the life of 
insurance contracts. It also provides clarity and simplicity when compared to the old standard. The 
statements of Financial Position and Profit & Loss were the areas mainly affected. One example of the 
above is that premium receivables no longer appears as an asset on the statement of Financial Position, 
instead it appears as a reduction in Liability for Remaining Coverage.

IFRS 17 also requires more details and clarity of information from our actuaries in regard to our claims 
liability valuation; and it requires that the decision-making process of management be reviewed and 
audited.

While the implementation of IFRS 17 has resulted in significant increases in expenses relating to the 
transition, the changes in assessment of our decision-making processes, and the way in which our liabilities 
are valued, will certainly provide more clarity and transparency for our stakeholders.

Capital and Investments
The Macroeconomic Environment 2023
The Jamaican economy improved as according to the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) the GDP for the third quarter 
of 2023 increased by range 1.0% to 3.0% relative to the Q3 2022. This growth according to the Statistical 
Institute of Jamaica (STATIN) was driven by a notable increase in services and a 2.1% increase in goods 
and services, reflecting a positive momentum in the economy’s recovery since Covid-19. 

Inflation & Interest Rates
In 2023, the BOJ’s efforts to stabilize inflation within the target range of 4.0%-6.0% demonstrated 
significant progress and resilience in the face of economic challenges. Although headline inflation started 
at 8.1% in January 2023 which was above the Bank of Jamaica’s inflation target range, the subsequent 
decline by April 2023 highlighted effective monetary policy measures and management. The ability to 
curb inflation throughout the year indicates a relatively stable economic environment and shows that the 
bank’s policies were largely effective in mitigating inflationary pressure. This reflects confidence in the 
bank’s ability and suggests a positive outlook for maintaining price stability in the long term. However, 
according to the BOJ, inflation is projected to continue to rise above the Bank’s target range between 
December 2023 and March 2025 quarters.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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The BOJ’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) agreed to maintain the policy interest rate at 7.0% for 2023 
through to 2024, to preserve tight Jamaican dollar liquidity conditions, and ensure relative stability in 
the foreign exchange market.  In alignment with the BOJ’S decision to halt interest rate adjustments the 
pace of upward movement was moderated. However, interest rates remain elevated for short term fixed 
income instruments.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Therefore, for the 2023 fiscal year, the investment landscape was shaped by several macroeconomic 
factors including inflation and fluctuating interest rates that influenced market dynamics and investment 
strategies. IronRock finished the year with cash and investments totaling $1.026 billion dollars, up 16% 
from $878 million the previous year. Investment income also showed substantial development, rising 
by 38% from $57 million to $79 million dollars. Additionally, the yield for each quarter in 2023 was as 
indicated below and the average yield for the year was 12.9%.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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The performance of our investment portfolio in 2023 was a testament to our balanced approach to capital 
allocation and risk management. Amid fluctuating market conditions, we achieved a steady return on our 
investments, contributing positively to our overall financial health. This stability allowed us to reinvest in 
our core insurance operations and explore strategic opportunities for expansion.

Outlook for 2024
Looking ahead to 2024, we are cautiously optimistic. The initiatives undertaken in 2023 have laid a solid 
foundation for growth, particularly in our Property and Motor/Liability portfolios. We anticipate continued 
market adjustments in rates, especially in the property sector, and are poised to leverage additional 
capacity opportunities that may arise. Our focus will remain on maintaining underwriting discipline, 
enhancing operational efficiencies, and prudent capital management to navigate the challenges and 
opportunities of the new year.
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ESG – ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE

At IronRock, our commitment to social responsibility 
and environmental sustainability is evident in 
our operations and community engagements. 
Our ESG approach is guided by the principles of 
environmental stewardship, social responsibility, 
and strong corporate governance. This ensures 
we remain aligned with our stakeholders’ values, 
manage ESG-related risks and opportunities, and 
contribute to a sustainable future for Jamaica and 
the global community.

Environmental Responsibility
Ongoing Support, Annual Donations and 
Sponsorships
In 2023, IronRock continued to support the Jamaica 
Inn Foundation, the White River Fish Sanctuary, 
and the Issa Foundation, reinforcing our dedication 
to environmental conservation and community 
education. Our contributions also extended to the 
Jamaica Environment Trust, further showcasing 
our commitment to preserving Jamaica’s natural 
beauty and resources. Additionally, we sponsored 
the Jamaica Inn Open Water Swim, a fundraiser for 
the White River Fish Sanctuary, promoting marine 
biodiversity and sustainable fishing practices. 

Sustainability through Solar Energy
Our investment in solar energy, now in its fifth 
year, remains a cornerstone of our sustainability 
practices. By harnessing solar power, we reduce our 
carbon footprint and greenhouse gas emissions, 
contributing to a cleaner environment and inspiring 
other businesses to adopt renewable energy 
solutions.

Social Responsibility
Community Support and Social Initiatives
IronRock’s social responsibility efforts in 2023 
included sponsoring various community events and 
sports tournaments. We supported the Couples Golf 
Tournament in January and the Heart Foundation 
Golf Tournament in July, aiding essential healthcare 
initiatives and heart health promotion across Jamaica. 

Promoting Sports and Healthy Lifestyles
Our sponsorship of multiple swimming and triathlon 
events underscores our commitment to promoting 
healthy lifestyles and sports development. Events 
sponsored in 2023 included:
•	 Mayberry National Prep School Swimming 		
	 Championships (March)
•	 Tornadoes Swim Club Invitational Swim 		
	 Meet (May)
•	 Jamaica Triathlon Association’s National 		
	 School Championships (June)
•	 Jamaica Triathlon Association’s National 		
	 Triathlon (July)
•	 Goodwill Swimming Championships (August) 

Technological Contributions to Education 
IronRock also made significant technology donations 
to local high schools, providing servers and other 
network equipment to both Campion College and 
Ardenne High School. These contributions have 
supported educational advancement and digital 
inclusion, fostering a better learning environment 
for students.

Corporate Governance
IronRock’s governance practices remain rooted 
in high ethical standards, transparency, and 
accountability. We continuously strive to align 
our business operations with stakeholder values, 
manage ESG-related risks, and ensure compliance 
with all applicable laws and regulations. Our 
commitment to good corporate governance 
supports our long-term success and resilience.

The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible 
for ensuring IronRock’s long-term prosperity 
by collectively directing the Company’s affairs, 
whilst meeting the appropriate interests of its 
stakeholders.
 
The Board oversees senior management in the 
competent and ethical operation of the Company 
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and assures that the long-term interests of the 
shareholders are being served. To satisfy its 
duties, directors are expected to take a proactive, 
focused approach to their position to ensure that 
the Company is committed to success through the 
maintenance of high standards of responsibility 
and ethics. 

Board meetings are held quarterly, with a fifth 
meeting usually held in March to approve Audited 
Financial Statements and other reports that must 
be filed with the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) and 
the Financial Services Commission (FSC).

The role of the Board includes the responsibility to: 
1.	 establish IronRock’s vision, mission and 		
	 strategic goals;
2.	 guide the Company’s operations as well as 		
	 its risk control and accountability
	 framework;
3.	 appoint the Managing Director and review 		
	 his or her performance;
4.	 determine strategic options, select those 		
	 to be pursued, and decide the means to
	 to implement and support them;
5.	 approve Company policies and ensure that 	
	 they are effectively implemented;
6.	 delegate authority to Management, and 		
	 evaluate Management performance;
7.	 ensure adequate resources are available 		
    	 for strategic initiatives and that they are
	 managed effectively;
8.	 approve future plans and review past 		
	 performance; and
9.	 establish the values to be promoted 		
	 throughout the Company and work to
	 enhance IronRock’s public image.

Term of Office
In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of 
the Company, at least 1/3 of the Board of Directors, 
or the number nearest 1/3, excluding the Managing 
Director, must retire from office prior to each 

Annual General Meeting. Those retiring each year 
shall be those who have been longest in office since 
their last election.

Retiring directors are eligible for re-election at the 
AGM. 

Size of the Board
The Board must consist of a minimum of two (2) 
Directors (including the Chairman). However, 
currently, the Company’s Articles of Incorporation 
do not limit the number of directors that may sit on 
the Board. 

Corporate Governance Guidelines
The most recent version of our Corporate 
Governance Guidelines may be found in the Investors 
section of our website: www.ironrockjamaica.com

Governance Structure
The governance structure of the Company is 
designed to be a working structure for principled 
actions, effective decision-making and appropriate 
monitoring of both compliance and performance. 

Ethics and Conflicts of Interest
The Board expects its directors, as well as officers 
and employees, to act ethically. Directors are 
expected to adhere to the Company’s Disclosure 
of Interest Policy, Insider Trading Policy and Code 
of Ethics. 

Executive Directors
These are Directors who are employed by the 
Company and are normally responsible for aspects 
of the Company’s day to day operations. 

The term ‘non-executive Director’ therefore 
describes a Director who is not employed by the 
Company, nor responsible for its day to day operation.   
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Director Independence
The PSOJ defines an Independent Director as one 
who is free of any interest, position, association or 
relationship that might influence or reasonably be 
perceived to influence, in a material respect, his 
or her capacity to bring an independent judgment 
to bear on issues before the Board and to act in 
the best interest of the entity and its shareholders 
generally.

The Company endeavors to ensure that at least 30% 
of the directors on the Board satisfy this definition. 

As of 31 December 2023, the following Directors 
on the Board of IronRock were deemed to be 
Independent, Non-Executive Directors:

1.	 Anthony Bell;
2.	 Jan Polack; 
3.	 Ray Therrien; and
4.	 Janene Shaw.

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer
The Board regularly evaluates whether or not the 
roles of Chairman of the Board and CEO should be 
separate and, if they are to be separate, whether 
the Chairman of the Board should be selected from 
the non-employee directors or be an employee 
of the Company. The Board believes these issues 
should be considered as part of the Board’s broader 
oversight and succession planning process. 

Board Committees
The Board currently has the following Standing 
Committees: 

(i)	 Audit Committee; 
(ii)	 Corporate Governance & Conduct Review 		
	 Committee
(iii)	 Nomination & Compensation Committee; 		
	 and 
(iv)	 Investment Committee.

From time to time, the Board may form new 
committees as it deems appropriate. 

Size of Standing Committees: 
Every Board Committee shall consist of at least 
three (3) Board members. 

Standing Committee Members: All of the members 
of the standing committees will meet the most 
recently effective criteria for independence 
established by the Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior 
Market Rules and the Insurance Regulations, 2001. 
The members of these committees also will meet 
the other membership criteria specified in the 
respective charters for these committees. At least 
one member of the Investment Committee will be 
a member of Senior Management.

Standing Committee Member Assignments and 
Rotation: The Corporate Governance & Conduct 
Review Committee makes recommendations to the 
Board concerning the structure and composition of 
the Board committees. The Board will designate the 
chair, committee members and, where applicable, 
alternate standing committee members, by the 
vote of a majority of the directors. From time to 
time, there will be occasions on which the Board 
may want to rotate standing committee members, 
but the Board does not believe that it should 
establish a formal policy of rotation.

Standing Committee Charters: Each standing 
committee will have its own charter. The charter will 
set forth the purpose, authority and responsibilities 
of the standing committee in addition to the 
qualifications for standing committee membership. 
The Charters for IronRock’s Board Committees can 
be found in the ‘About Us’ section of our website: 
www.ironrockjamaica.com   
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Director Compensation
The Nomination & Compensation Committee reviews the form and amount of compensation for both 
directors and members of senior management annually and recommends any changes to the Board. 

Executive Directors are not paid additional compensation for their services as Directors to the Company.
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How IronRock Manages Risk

At IronRock we understand the term “Risk 
Management” to mean the continual 
process of identifying, analyzing, prioritizing, 
and, accepting, mitigating, or avoiding 
the uncertainty in the decisions we make. 

Insurance is founded on the concept of risk, and 
IronRock’s ability to manage its risk exposure will 
ultimately define its success as an insurance company.  

Risk is prevalent throughout all our lives.  Even if 
we are sure something is inevitable, we cannot 
know the exact time it will take place, nor the 
exact circumstances surrounding the event. It 
is therefore impossible for us to eliminate all the 
risks we face, and new risks will always emerge. 

This is why at IronRock we understand risk 
management to be a continual process. 
 
Operational Risk Management 

Operational risk refers to the various uncertainties 
and hazards that a company may encounter during its 
day-to-day operations. These risks can result in direct 
or indirect losses, caused by inadequate internal 
processes, personnel, or systems, or by external 
events (excluding financial or compliance risks). 

To manage these risks, the management team 
implements processes and systems that minimize 
the company’s overall exposure, while still 
maintaining a dynamic and innovative workplace 
for employees. The senior managers of each 
department are responsible for establishing and 
implementing operational controls within their 
areas of responsibility. The Audit Committee is then 
tasked with ensuring that each department complies 
with the relevant internal control procedures, 
typically through the use of internal auditors. 

In the context of IronRock, there are two operational 
risks that are particularly relevant, which are 
discussed below.

Insurance Risk Management
Individuals and organizations use insurance as a risk 
management tool to transfer their risk exposure to 
an insurer in exchange for a premium. However, 
insurers themselves are exposed to risk.
To manage their risk exposure, insurers pool 
a diverse set of risks. However, risks can still 
arise when an insurer determines how to rate a 
proposed risk (Underwriting Risk), whether its 
reinsurance treaties are adequate (Reinsurance 
Risk), and whether its current insurance reserves 
are sufficient to cover future claims (Claims Risk). 

IronRock’s insurance risk management approach 
focuses on reducing its exposure to these risks 
continually. This involves hiring and maintaining an 
experienced and competent senior management 
team, as well as a diligent and efficient workforce. 
IronRock also underwrites a diversified portfolio 
of risks consistent with its long-term underwriting 
strategy, works closely with its reinsurers to 
provide the highest standard of security to 
policyholders, and builds and maintains sufficient 
insurance reserves to cover future claims. In 
addition, IronRock stays up-to-date on disclosures 
and advancements in the global insurance industry. 
 
Information Technology (IT) Risk Management

IT risk refers to the potential threats that can 
impact a company’s business data, critical systems, 
and processes, leading to financial loss, disruption, 
or damage to the company’s reputation. These 
risks can stem from physical damage to IT 
hardware or intangible damage to software 
due to system failures or malicious activities 
such as theft or corruption of internal data. 

IT risks have received increased attention from 
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legislators globally, and the Government of 
Jamaica has passed the Cybercrimes Act (2010) 
and recently enacted the Data Protection 
Act (2020), which imposes stronger statutory 
requirements on companies to control IT risks. 

To ensure the highest level of protection for 
its stakeholders, IronRock has implemented 
a comprehensive IT policy that covers 
various areas of control, including: 

(1) Acceptable Use	     (7) Network Access Security

(2) Backup and Security     (8) Mobile Devices

(3) Data Management        (9) Passwords

(4) Security Monitoring      (10) Physical Security

(5) Incident Management   (11) Server Hardening

(6) Network Configuration (12) Virus Protection 
 
Compliance Risk Management 
 
Compliance risk refers to the potential threat to a 
company’s operational, financial, or reputational 
standing resulting from violations of laws or 
statutory regulations. 

As a publicly traded insurance company, IronRock 
is subject to regulations by both the Financial 
Services Commission (FSC) and the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (JSE). The company operates under a 
heavy regulatory burden, and management views 
these regulations as a prudent extension of their 
own internal controls.

IronRock actively encourages and facilitates open 
dialogue with regulators to build healthy and lasting 
relationships for the benefit of all stakeholders. The 
company believes that fostering strong relationships 
with regulators will help it comply with regulations, 
reduce compliance risk, and ultimately enhance its 

reputation as a responsible corporate citizen.

FSC Regulations

The FSC states that its purpose, relating to the 
supervision of general insurance companies, is to 
protect the interests of policyholders. 
Direct supervision of the insurance industry 
is performed by the Insurance Division of the 
Commission, to ensure that:

1.	 solvency standards for all entities ensure 		
	 policyholder protection;

2.	 the relationships between insurers and 		
	 their 	 holding company, subsidiaries and/		
	 or associated companies are in 
	 accordance with legislation;

3.	 regulators have access to information; and

4.	 industry players practice sound corporate 	
	 governance, as they owe a duty of care to 	
	 their clients and claimants.

An area of key concern for the FSC and insurers 
alike, is the Minimum Capital Test (MCT) – intended 
to assess the riskiness of an insurer’s assets and 
policy liabilities by applying various factors and 
margins, ultimately comparing capital available to 
capital required.

As at 31 December 2023 IronRock’s MCT Ratio was 
316%, compared to the FSC required ratio of 150%.

JSE Regulations

The JSE reserves the right to, in its absolute 
discretion, delist or suspend trading of any listed 
company for failure to comply with all applicable 
rules and guidelines – which for IronRock are set out 
in the publicly available JSE Junior Market Rules.
Accordingly, and to protect the interests of our 
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shareholders, IronRock strictly adheres to the 
JSE Junior Market Rules regarding disclosures, 
reporting, insider trading, related party 
transactions and corporate governance.
 
Note - the delisting of a company does not negate 
the value of its issued shares or the rights of its 
shareholders. However, it can make the trading of 
its shares significantly more difficult.

Financial Risk Management
 
Financial risk is the risk of the Company incurring a 
financial loss that could impair its ability to earn an 
adequate return or finance its debt.

Changes in the global political, social and 
economic spheres, all significantly impact financial 
risk. While this section outlines the major types of 
financial risk IronRock is exposed to, it is important 
to understand that financial risk is globally 
systematic and intersects with all other types of 
risk.

Financial risk management at IronRock is a 
comprehensive process that involves:
1.	 the Board of Directors, who establish and 		
	 review the Company’s financial risk 
	 management framework;

2.	 the Audit Committee, who asses the 		
	 adequacy and appropriateness of the risk 		
	 management framework and monitor 
	 internal compliance;

3.	 the Managing Director and Finance 			
	 Director, who together develop and 
	 implement financial risk management 
	 policies, and regularly report to the Board;

4.	 the Investment Committee, who establish 		
	 and review controls relating to the 
	 investment of the Company’s assets; and

5.	 the FSC, who impose limits on how insurers 	
	 can invest their capital. 
 
Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the risk of the Company incurring 
a financial loss, if a counterparty fails to make 
contractually required payments. 

IronRock’s key areas of exposure to credit risk 
include: 
1.	 debt securities;

2.	 premiums due from policyholders and 		
	 intermediaries; and

3.	 payments owed from reinsurers.

Management controls the Company’s credit risk 
in respect of debt securities by placing limits on 
its exposure to any single counterparty – based 
on the credit rating of that counterparty. IronRock 
also has a policy of investing in only high quality 
corporate bonds and government issued debt 
contracts.

IronRock’s credit risk exposure to individual 
policy holders and intermediaries is monitored 
as part of the Company’s credit control process. 
Analysis is regularly conducted to identify 
significant exposures to individual policyholders or 
intermediaries and the relevant action is taken to 
mitigate the risk posed to the Company.

In addition, all intermediaries must meet minimum 
financial requirements established and enforced 
by Senior Management. Our historical credit 
experience with intermediaries is also documented 
and monitored on a regular basis.

The credit worthiness of all current and 
prospective reinsurers is assessed directly by 
Senior Management through the review of A.M. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Best and Standard & Poor’s credit ratings, as well 
as any other publicly available information. 

As a policy, IronRock only arranges contracts with 
reinsurers rated “A” or higher, by both A.M. Best 
and Standard & Poor’s.

Further enquiry and vetting is performed by 
our reinsurance broker, Guy Carpenter, whose 
international presence and extensive relationships 
with reinsurers across the globe allow them to 
provide insights otherwise unavailable to the 
public. 

We also seek to maintain diversity in our 
reinsurance arrangements, preferring to place 
contracts with reinsurers based in different 
markets around the world, while limiting our per 
risk and per event exposure to any one reinsurer.

Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will 
not be able to meet its short-term financial 
obligations, due to difficulties in converting its 
assets into cash. 

Insurers are exposed to daily calls on their 
available cash resources, mainly arising from 
policyholder claims. Liquidity risk may arise from 
many potential areas, such as a duration mismatch 
between assets and liabilities and an unexpectedly 
high level of claims in a given period. 

IronRock’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
manage the maturity profile of the Company’s 
fixed income portfolio and to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it maintains sufficient investments in 
marketable securities. This enables the Company 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressful conditions – without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to its 
reputation. 

Financial Market Risk Management

Financial market risk is the risk that the Company 
will suffer losses due to the overall performance of 
local or international financial markets. 

IronRock is exposed to market risk on all of 
its financial assets. The objective of IronRock’s 
financial market risk management strategy is 
therefore to manage and control exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
Company’s investment return on risk. 

IronRock’s exposure to financial market risk can be 
understood through three major areas:

1.	 Equity Investment Risk;

2.	 Interest Rate Risk; and

3.	 Foreign Exchange Risk.

1. 	 Equity Investment Risks

Equity investment risk is the financial risk involved 
in holding equity in a particular investment. 
IronRock manages this risk by ensuring the mix 
of debt and equity securities in its portfolio are 
constantly managed and adjusted according to 
market expectations. The primary goal of the 
Company’s investment strategy is to earn the 
maximum return at the lowest acceptable level of 
risk.

2.	 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises primarily from IronRock’s 
choice of debt security investments. IronRock 
manages its interest rate risk exposure by 
matching, where possible, the duration and profile 
of assets and liabilities to minimise the impact 
of mismatches between the value of assets and 
liabilities from interest rate movements.
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Interest bearing financial assets are primarily 
represented by long-term investments, which have 
been contracted at fixed or floating interest rates 
for the duration of the term.
 
3.	 Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk describes the potential for 
the market value of financial instruments, or the 
value of the cash flows from such instruments, to 
vary due to exchange rate fluctuations.

IronRock incurs foreign currency risk on insurance 
and reinsurance contracts and investments that 
are denominated in any currency other than the 
Jamaican dollar. Currently, the principal foreign 
currency risk of the Company, are contracts and 
investments denominated in United States dollars.

Management controls this risk by, where 
possible, matching the value of its assets and 
liabilities denominated in a given currency, so 
that any movement in the exchange rate is offset, 
effectively hedging the Company’s position. 



30

DISCLOSURE OF SHAREHOLDINGS



31

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
W. David McConnell	
Chair

R. E. D. Thwaites
Managing Director

Wayne N. T. Hardie
Finance Director

Anthony J. A. Bell, J.P.
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Jan Polack
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Gary H. Peart
Non-Executive Director

Raymond Therrien
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Christian Tavares-Finson
Non-Executive Director

Janene Shaw
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Audit Committee
Anthony Bell, Chair
Jan Polack 
Gary Peart
Ray Therrien
Janene Shaw

Corporate Governance 
Committee
Anthony Bell, Chair
Jan Polack
Ray Therrien

Investment Committee
Anthony Bell, Chair 
Jan Polack
R. E. D. Thwaites
Janene Shaw

Nomination & Compensation 
Committee
Ray Therrien, Chair
Anthony J. A. Bell
Christian Tavares-Finson

EXECUTIVE TEAM 
R. E. D. Thwaites
Managing Director

Wayne N. T. Hardie
Finance Director 

Maurice Bolt
GM – Technology & Operations

Christian Watt
GM – Marketing & Production

PRIMARY REINSURERS
R+V Versicherung
Raiffeisenplatz 1
Wiesbaden, 65189
Germany

SCOR Reinsurance
701 Brickell Avenue, #1270
Miami, 33131, 
USA

Munich Re
Königinstr. 107
80802 Munich
Germany

Peak Re
Room 2107-11, ICBC Tower, 
3 Garden Road, Central, 
Hong Kong

Lloyd’s Underwriter Syndicates
1 Lime Street
London, EC3M 7HA
United Kingdom

QBE Reinsurance
30 Fenchurch Street
London, EC3M 3BD
United Kingdom

Sirius America Ins Company
Suite 1202
80 Bloor Street West
Toronto, M5S 2V1,
Canada

CCR Re
150 York Street, Suite 1010
Toronto, M5H 3S5 
Canada

Echo Re
Brandschenkestrasse 18-20
8001 Zürich
Switzerland

REINSURANCE BROKER
AON Reinsurance Canada ULC
20 Bay Street
Suite 2300
Toronto, Ontario
Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
KPMG
The Victoria Mutual Building
6 Duke Street
Kingston 1, Jamaica

INTERNAL AUDITORS
Smith and Associates
16 Hope Road
Kingston 10, Jamaica

ACTUARY
Kevin A. Lee, FCIA, FCAS, MAAA
AON Risk Solutions
225 King Street West, 
Toronto, M5V 3M2 
Canada 

BROKERS
Allied Ins Brokers
26 Belmont Road
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Assurance Brokers Ja
1a Braemar Avenue
Kingston 10, Jamaica

BCMG Ins Brokers
17 Seaview Avenue
Kingston 6, Jamaica

Desmond Mair Ins Brokers
59 Hope Road
Kingston 6, Jamaica

FFK Ins Brokers
28 Pawsey Place
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Gallagher Ins Brokers Ja
7-9 Harbour Street
Kingston 5, Jamaica

JMMB Ins Brokers
8 Dominica Drive
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Marathon Ins Brokers
46 Trinidad Terrace 
Kingston 5, Jamaica

NPG Ins Brokers
27 Tobago Ave
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Pinnacle Ins Brokers
7 Merrick Ave
Kingston 10, Jamaica

Spectrum Ins Brokers
7 ½ Haining Road
Kingston 10, Jamaica

TFS Ins Brokers
6 Trinidad Terrace
Kingston 5, Jamaica

REGISTERED OFFICE
IronRock Insurance Co. Limited
1b Braemar Avenue
Kingston 10, Jamaica
+1 (876) 946-1595
ironrockjamaica.com

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

http://ironrockjamaica.com


32

PROXY FORM

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a Proxy to vote on his/
her behalf. A Proxy need not be a member. A suitable form of Proxy is below. 

The Proxy must be signed and deposited, duly stamped, at the registered office of IronRock Insurance Company 
Limited at 1b Braemar Avenue, Kingston 10, Saint Andrew, Jamaica, not less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to 
the Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

I/We, ________________________________________________________________________________
					     (Name(s) of Shareholder(s))
of, __________________________________________________________________________________
					     (Address(es) of Shareholder(s))
in the parish of _____________________, being a member(s) of IronRock Insurance Company Limited

hereby appoint, _______________________________________________________________________
					     (Name of Proxy)
of, __________________________________________________________________________________
						      (Address of Proxy)
or failing him, _________________________________________________________________________
					     (Name of Alternative Proxy)
of, __________________________________________________________________________________
					     (Address of Alternative Proxy)
as my Proxy/our Proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to 
be held at AC Hotel by Marriott, 38-42 Lady Musgrave Road, Kingston on Tuesday, 3rd of December 2024 
starting at 3:30 p.m., and at any adjournment thereof.
This form is to be used IN FAVOUR of resolutions numbered_________________.
This form is to be used AGAINST resolutions numbered_____________________.
Signed this ______ day of _______________ 2024.

_________________________________
Signatures(s) of Shareholder(s)

IronRock Insurance Company Limited
1b Braemar Avenue
Kingston 10, Saint Andrew
Jamaica

Place 
$100 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of IronRock Insurance Company Limited (“the 
company”), set out on pages 40 to 111, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2023, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in 
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising material 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
company as at December 31, 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended, in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards) and the Jamaican Companies Act. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants including International Independence Standards (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Page 2 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Key Audit Matter  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

 

Key Audit Matter How was the matter addressed in our audit 
Valuation of liability for incurred 
claims (LIC) 
 
The Company’s  liability for 
incurred claims as at December 
31, 2023, were $434 million of the 
$777 million insurance contract 
liabilities. The Company 
determines the LIC by applying 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards 17, Insurance Contracts 
(IFRS 17), which incorporates 
economic and non-economic 
assumptions. 
 
The determination of the present 
value of future cash flows for the 
liability for incurred claims (LIC) 
requires the use of appropriate 
assumptions in respect of the 
methods/models and assumptions 
used as well as complete, 
accurate, relevant and reliable data 
to determine future cash flows and 
discount rate. The 
methods/models, assumptions and 
data may not be appropriately 
applied due to its complexity. 

 
The required disclosures under 
IFRS 17 may be  incomplete, 
inaccurate or not fairly presented. 

Our procedures in this area included the following: 
 

 With the assistance of actuarial specialist, evaluated 
the appropriateness of methods/models and 
assumptions to estimate amount, timing, uncertainty 
of future cash flows; to determine ultimate expected 
claims and estimate discount rate curves; as well as 
to determine risk adjustments. 
 

 Evaluated the completeness, accuracy and relevance 
of data including reconciliation between source 
administration systems, and cash flows 
model/discount rate model. 

 
 Involved actuarial specialists to assist in auditing the 

methods and significant assumptions/judgement 
relating to the valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities, by performing independent reprojection of 
estimated expected cash flows and estimation of 
discount rate curves, ultimate estimate claims and 
estimation of risk adjustment. 
 

 Evaluated management’s analysis of change to verify 
that the movement in the estimates of future cash 
flows, risk adjustments, and total insurance contract 
liabilities period to period are in-line with our business 
understanding. 
 

 Evaluated the completeness, accuracy and relevance 
of disclosures required by IFRS 17, including 
disclosures about assumptions about the future, and 
other major sources of estimation uncertainty. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
Key Audit Matter (continued) 

 

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
When we read the annual report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the Jamaican Companies Act, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
 

Key Audit Matter How was the matter addressed in our audit 
Significant auditor judgment was 
required because there was a 
high degree of measurement 
uncertainty in the significant 
financial and non-financial 
assumptions. Significant and 
complex auditor judgment was 
required to evaluate the results of 
audit procedures.[see notes 6(c) 
part 5 insurance contracts and 
note 16(i) of the financial 
statements] 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements (continued) 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This description, which is located at pages 
5 and 6, forms part of our auditors’ report. 
 
Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act  
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.  
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as appears from our 
examination of those records, and the financial statements, which are in agreement therewith, 
give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act in the manner required. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Rajan 
Trehan. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Kingston, Jamaica  
 
July 19, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 

 
Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report (Continued) 

 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 
   Restated* 
 Notes 2023 2022 
    $'000 $'000 
 
Insurance revenue 16(i) 1,395,361 991,895  
Insurance service expenses 16(i) (   565,090) (491,414) 
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 16(ii) (   710,554) (437,609)  
Insurance service result      119,717   62,872  
Interest revenue calculated the effective interest method 20(a) 62,670 46,782 
Other investment revenue 20(b) 11,388 17,477 
Net impairment gain on financial asset         4,745        -       
Investment return        78,803   64,259 
Net insurance and investment results   198,520 127,131 
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 16(i) 9,497 13,550 
Net finance income from reinsurance contracts 16(ii) (     6,478) (    8,608) 
   201,539 132,073 
Other income        20,067     7,535 
Other operating expenses 19(b) (   118,506) (103,604) 
Profit before taxation 103,100 36,004 
Taxation 22 (     19,136) (    2,375) 
Profit for the year        83,964   33,629 
Other comprehensive income 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Fair value gains/(losses) on investments, being total other    
   comprehensive income, net of taxes             831 (    2,809) 
Total comprehensive income for the year        84,795   30,820 
Earnings per stock unit 
   Based on stock units in issue 21    39 cents 16 cents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Restated note 28
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 
  Investment 
 Share Capital revaluation  Accumulated 

 capital reserves    reserve   profit/(loss)     Total     
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 (note 17) (note 18) 

 
Balances at January 1, 2022, as 
   previously reported 465,540 139,340 3,381 11,384 619,645 
 
Adjustment on initial application of 
   IFRS 17, net of taxes        -             -           -        27,295   27,295 
Balances at January 1, 2022, as restated 465,540 139,340 3,381 38,679 646,940 
Profit for the year 2022, as restated       -             -           -      33,629 33,629 
 
Fair value losses on investments        -             -       (2,809)        -      (    2,809) 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
   (restated)       -             -       (2,809)   33,629   30,820 
Balances at December 31, 2022 465,540 139,340 572 72,308 677,760  
 
Adjustment on initial application of 
   IFRS 9, net of taxes        -       ______ (6,846) (       411) (    7,257) 
Balances at January 1, 2023 465,540 139,340 (6,274) 71,897 670,503 
Profit for the year 2023 -       -           -     83,964 83,964 
Dividends paid  -       -           -     (    6,955) (    6,955) 
Fair value gains on investments       -             -          831          -                831  
Total comprehensive income       -             -          831   77,009   77,840  
Balances at December 31, 2023 465,540 139,340 (5,443) 148,906 748,343  
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2023 
 
 
   Restated* 
 Notes 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 Profit for the year  83,964 33,629 
 Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation and amortisation 7,8 5,507 5,232 
  Deferred taxation 9 9,735 1,674  

 Net impairment loss on financial assets  (    4,745)     -     
 Fair value through the profit and loss  3,295     -      

  Interest and dividend income 20 (  70,962) (  53,892) 
  Taxation 22 9,401 701 

Gain on sale of property plant and equipment (       122) -      
  Gain on sale of investments  (    6,391) (  10,367)  
    29,682 (  23,023) 
  Changes in: 
  Insurance contract liabilities   246,211 (115,458) 
  Receivables (  37,306) (    841) 
  Due from related party  2,238 -      
  Reinsurance contract assets   (152,875) 166,694 
  Other payables   2,129 9,472 
  Taxation paid   (  11,005) (    7,638) 
   Net cash provided by operating activities    79,074   29,206 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 Proceeds from disposal of short-term investments   -        80,275 
 Acquisition of short-term investments   -        (186,554) 
 Proceeds from disposal of investments   104,334 263,001 
 Acquisition of investments   (  80,332) (  86,896) 
 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  7 (    1,662) (    2,823) 
 Acquisition of Intangibles  8 (    1,200) -      
 Proceeds from disposal of resale agreements   777,126 291,306 
 Acquisition of resale agreements   (687,126) (366,030) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment 122 -      
 Dividend received 8,292 7,110 
 Interest received     61,846   44,172 
   Net cash provided by investing activities  181,400   43,561 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Ordinary dividend paid  (    6,955)        -       
Net cash used by financing activities  (    6,955)        -       

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  253,519 72,767 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  142,404   69,637 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR  395,923 142,404 
 
 
 
 
 
*Restated note 28 
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

1. Corporate structure and nature of business  
 

 IronRock Insurance Company Limited (the company) was incorporated June 9, 2015 and is 
domiciled in Jamaica, with its registered office at 1b Braemar Avenue, Kingston 10. It is a 50.9% 
subsidiary of Granite Group Limited, a company incorporated and domiciled in St. Lucia. The 
company is listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
 The principal activity of the company is the underwriting of general insurance business. The 

company commenced trading March 2016. 
 
 

2. Insurance licence 
 
The company is registered under the Insurance Act 2001 (the Act). 
 
 

3. Roles of the actuary and auditors 
 
The actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the Act. With respect to preparation 
of financial statements, the actuary carries out an actuarial valuation of management’s estimate of 
the company’s reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities and reports thereon to 
the shareholders. Actuarially determined reinsurance contract assets or insurance contract 
liabilities consist of the provisions for, and reinsurance recovery of, unpaid claims and adjustment 
expenses on insurance policies in force. The valuation is made in accordance with accepted 
actuarial practice, as well as any other matter specified in any directive made by regulatory 
authorities.  The actuary’s report outlines the scope of his work and opinion. An actuarial 
evaluation is prepared annually. 
 
The external auditors are appointed by the shareholders pursuant to the Jamaican Companies Act 
to conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial statements of the company in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and report thereon to the shareholders. In 
carrying out their audit, the auditors also make use of the work of the actuary and his report on the 
company’s actuarially determined reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities. 
The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audit and their opinion. 

 
 
4. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and material accounting policies  
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and 
their interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.  
 
Certain new and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the current 
financial year, some of which did not have any significant impact on these financial 
statements. 
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

4. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 
 

Details of the Company’s material accounting policies are included in note 6. 
 
This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which the IFRS 17 
Insurance Contracts, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
(Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)  have been applied. The related 
changes to material accounting policies are disclosed in note 5. 

 
New and amended standards that became effective during the year: 

 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The amendments help companies 
provide useful accounting policy disclosures. 

 
The key amendments to IAS 1 include: 

 
- requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their 

significant accounting policies; 
- clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events 

or conditions are themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and 
- clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other 

events or conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial statements. 
 

The amendments are consistent with the refined definition of material: 
 

“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other 
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected 
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements 
make on the basis of those financial statements”. 

 
The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2) from January 1, 2023. The amendments require the 
disclosure of “material” rather than “significant” accounting policies. Although the 
amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies themselves, they 
impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements (note 
6).  

 
 Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early 
adoption permitted. The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting 
estimates: clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are 
subject to measurement uncertainty. 
 
The amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and 
accounting estimates by specifying that a company develops an accounting estimate to 
achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 

 

45



 
13 

 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

4. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 
 

New and amended standards that became effective during the year (continued): 
 

 Amendments to IAS 8 (continue) 
 

Developing an accounting estimate includes both: 
 

- selecting a measurement technique (estimation or valuation technique) – e.g. an 
estimation technique used to measure a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
when applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and 
 

- choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen measurement technique 
– e.g., the expected cash outflows for determining a provision for warranty 
obligations when applying IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. 

 
The effects of changes in such inputs or measurement techniques are changes in 
accounting estimates. 

 
 Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes are effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The amendments 
clarify how companies should account for deferred tax on certain transactions – e.g., 
leases and decommissioning provisions. 

 
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption (IRE) so that it 
does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary 
differences. As a result, companies will need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a 
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease 
and a decommissioning provision. 
 
For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and 
liabilities will need to be recognised from the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained 
earnings or other components of equity at that date.  
 
If a company previously accounted for deferred tax on leases and decommissioning 
liabilities under the net approach, then the impact on transition is likely to be limited to 
the separate presentation of the deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability. 
 
For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented. 
 
The Company adopted Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes from January 1, 2023. 
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude 
transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences-e.g. leases.  The 
amendments did not result in any changes to accounting policies themselves. Instead, 
the key impact for the Company relates to disclosure of the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities recognised. 
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

4. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards issued but not yet effective: 
 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new and amended standards 
and interpretations have been issued which were not effective for the current year and which 
the Company has not early-adopted. The Company has assessed them with respect to its 
operations and has determined that the following are relevant: 

 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements apply retrospectively and 

is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. The amendments 
clarify how a company classifies a liability that can be settled in its own shares – e.g. 
convertible debt. 

 
Companies may have interpreted the existing IAS 1 requirements differently when 
classifying convertible debt. Therefore, convertible debt may become current. 

 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements apply retrospectively for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after January1, 2024. The amendments 
promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on determining if a 
liability is current or non-current. The amendments require new disclosures for non-
current liabilities that are subject to future covenants. 

 
 IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, is effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027 
 

Under current IFRS Accounting Standards, companies use different formats to present 
their results, making it difficult for investors to compare financial performance across 
companies. IFRS 18 promotes a more structured income statement. In particular, it 
introduces a newly defined ‘operating profit’ subtotal and a requirement for all income 
and expenses to be allocated between three new distinct categories (Operating, 
Investing and Financing) based on a company’s main business activities. 

 
All companies are required to report the newly defined ‘operating profit’ subtotal – an 
important measure for investors’ understanding of a company’s operating results – i.e. 
investing and financing activities are specifically excluded. This means that the results 
of equity-accounted investees are no longer part of operating profit and are presented in 
the ‘investing’ category.  
 
IFRS 18 also requires companies to analyse their operating expenses directly on the 
face of the income statement – either by nature, by function or using a mixed 
presentation. Under the new standard, this presentation provides a ‘useful structured 
summary’ of those expenses. If any items are presented by function on the face of the 
income statement (e.g. cost of sales), then a company provides more detailed 
disclosures about their nature. 
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

4. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
(a) Statement of compliance (continued): 

 
New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 18 (continued) 

 
IFRS 18 requires some ‘non-GAAP’ measures to be reported in the financial 
statements. It introduces a narrow definition for management performance 
measures(MPMs), requiring them to be a subtotal of income and expenses, used in 
public communications outside the financial statements and reflective of management’s 
view of financial performance. For each MPM presented, companies will need to 
explain in a single note to the financial statements why the measure provides useful 
information, how it is calculated and reconcile it to an amount determined under IFRS 
Accounting Standards. 

 
Companies are discouraged from labelling items as ‘other’ and will now be required to 
disclose more information if they continue to do so. 

 
The Company is assessing the impact that these amendments may have on its future financial 
statements. 
 

(b) Basis of preparation: 
 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified for the 
inclusion of financial instruments at fair value. 
 
These financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars ($), which is the functional 
currency of the company.   
 
This is the first set of the company’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 17 Insurance 
Contracts and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. The related changes to 
material accounting policies are described in Note 5. 

 
(c) Going concern: 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS assumes that the 
company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  This means, inter 
alia, that the statements of financial position and profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income assume no intention or necessity to liquidate the company or curtail the scale of its 
operations. This is commonly referred to as the going concern basis. 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgements: 
 

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date, and the income and expense for the year 
then ended. 
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

4. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued)  
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued): 
 

Actual amounts could differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on 
the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the 
next financial year are discussed in the following notes: 

 
(i) Judgement 

 
 
–– Notes 23(e) – measurement of insurance and reinsurance contracts: determining 

the techniques for estimating risk adjustments for non-financial risk. 
 
 
5. Changes in accounting policies 

 
The Company has initially applied IFRS 17 and IFRS 9, including any consequential amendments 
to other standards, from 1 January 2023. These standards have brought significant changes to the 
accounting for insurance and reinsurance contracts and financial instruments. As a result, the 
Company has restated certain comparative amounts and presented a third statement of financial 
position as at January 1, 2022. Except for the changes below, the Company has consistently 
applied the accounting policies as set out in Note 6 to all periods presented in these financial 
statements. The nature and effects of the key changes in the Company’s accounting policies 
resulting from its adoption of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 are summarised below: 

  
i. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

 
a) Recognition, measurement and presentation of insurance contracts 

 
IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with 
discretionary participation features. It introduces a model that measures groups of 
contracts based on the Company’s estimates of the present value of future cash flows 
that are expected to arise as the Company fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk 
adjustment for non-financial risk.  
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IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

5. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

i. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued) 
 

a) Recognition, measurement and presentation of insurance contracts (continued) 
 

Under IFRS 17, insurance revenue in each reporting period represents the changes in 
the liabilities for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Company 
expects to receive consideration and an allocation of premiums that relate to 
recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. In addition, investment components are 
no longer included in insurance revenue and insurance service expenses.  
 
Insurance finance income and expenses are presented separately from insurance 
revenue and insurance service expenses.  
 
The Company applies the premium allocation approach (PAA) to simplify the 
measurement of its contract. When measuring liabilities for remaining coverage, the 
PAA is similar to the Company’s previous accounting treatment. However, when 
measuring liabilities for incurred claims, the Company now discounts the future cash 
flows (unless they are expected to occur in one year or less from the date on which the 
claims are incurred) and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. All 
contracts issued by the company were of one year or less, therefore the Company uses 
the PAA for measuring all contracts. 

 
Previously, all acquisition costs were recognised and presented as separate assets from 
the related insurance contracts (‘deferred acquisition costs’) until those costs were 
included in profit or loss and OCI. Under IFRS 17, only insurance acquisition cash 
flows that arise before the recognition of the related insurance contracts are recognised 
as separate assets and are tested for recoverability. These assets are presented in the 
carrying amount of the related portfolio of contracts and are derecognised once the 
related contracts have been recognised.  

 
Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts other than insurance finance income 
and expenses are now presented as a single net amount in profit or loss. Previously, 
amounts recovered from reinsurers and reinsurance expenses were presented 
separately. For an explanation of how the Company accounts for insurance and 
reinsurance contracts under IFRS 17, see note 6(c). 

 
ii. Transition 

 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 have been applied 
using a full retrospective approach to the extent practicable. Under the full retrospective 
approach, at 1 January 2022 the Company: 
 
–– identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 as if IFRS 17 had always been applied. 
 
––  identified, recognised and measured any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows as 

if IFRS 17 had always been applied, except that the recoverability assessment in Note 6 
(c) was not applied before 1 January 2022. 

50



 
18 

 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

5. Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

ii. Transition (continued) 
 

––  derecognised previously reported balances that would not have existed if IFRS 17 had 
always been applied. These included some deferred acquisition costs for insurance 
contracts, insurance receivables and payables, and provisions for levies that are 
attributable to existing insurance contracts. Under IFRS 17, they are included in the 
measurement of the insurance contracts. 

 
––  recognised any resulting net difference in equity.  

 
The Company has applied the transition provisions in IFRS 17 and has disclosed the 
impact of the adoption of IFRS 17 on each financial statement line item. The effects of 
adopting IFRS 17 on the financial statements at 1 January 2022 are presented in the 
statement of changes in equity. 

 
iii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The new standard brings 
fundamental changes to the accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the 
accounting for financial liabilities. 

 
As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the company has adopted consequential amendments to 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, which require impairment of financial assets to 
be presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. Additionally, the company 
has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are 
applied to disclosures about 2023, but have not been applied to the comparative information. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its 
contractual cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminates the IAS 39 categories of held-to-
maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded 
in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never 
bifurcated. Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is assessed for classification. For an 
explanation of how the company classifies financial instruments under IFRS 9, see note 6 
(p)(ii). 
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5. Changes accounting policies (continued) 
 

iii. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” (ECL) 
model.  The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost.  
Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The following table and the accompanying notes explain the original measurement 
categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of 
the company’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at December 31, 2023. The effect 
of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at December 31, 2023 relates 
solely to the new impairment requirements. 

 
  

 
 

Original classification 
under IAS 39 

New 
classification 
under IFRS 9 

IFRS 9 carrying 
amount at 

December 31, 2023 
 
Financial assets 
 

    $’000 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
Loans and receivables 

 
Amortised cost 

 
395,923 

Securities 
purchased under 
resale agreements 

 

Loans and receivables 
 
Amortised cost 

 
                  - 

Investment – 
certificates of 
deposits 

 

Loans and receivables 
 
Amortised cost 

 
 101,442 

 
Investment – 
Quoted 
equities 

 

 
Available for sale 

 
Fair value 
through profit 
and loss 

 
 124,167 

 
Investment – 
Government of 
Jamaica 
Securities 

 

 
Loan and receivables 

 
Amortised cost  

 
 128,817 

Investment – 
Unit Trust 

 
Available for sale 

Fair value through 
profit and loss 898 

Corporate Bond  Loans and receivables Amortised cost 224,797 
 
US Global  
Bonds  Available for sale 

Fair value through 
OCI  50,398 
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6. Material accounting policies 
 

The company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 
these financial statements: 

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and include short-term 

deposits and other monetary investments with maturities ranging between one and three 
months from the date of acquisition (i.e original maturity). These are not subject to 
significant risk of change in value and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.  

 
(b) Short-term investments: 

 
Short-term investments comprise fixed deposits with banks, money market securities, and 
loans and receivables maturing within one year. They are acquired for their earnings 
potential and for balancing the company’s risks on its investment portfolio. Their nature, 
liquidity and risk are like those of cash and cash equivalents. 

 
(c) Insurance contracts – Classification 

 
Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk are classified as 
insurance contracts. Contracts held by the Company under which it transfers significant 
insurance risk related to underlying insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance 
contracts. Insurance and reinsurance contracts also expose the Company to financial risk. 
Insurance contracts may be issued, and reinsurance contracts may be initiated by the 
Company, or they may be acquired in a business combination or in a transfer of contracts 
that do not form a business. All references in these accounting policies to ‘insurance 
contracts’ and ‘reinsurance contracts’ include contracts issued, initiated or acquired by the 
Company, unless otherwise stated. 
 
All of these contracts are measured under the PAA. 

 
Insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 
1. Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts 

 
At inception, the Company is required to separate the following components from an 
insurance or reinsurance contract and account for them as if they were stand-alone 
financial instruments: 

 
- derivatives embedded in the contract whose economic characteristics and risks 

are not closely related to those of the host contract, and whose terms would not 
meet the definition of an insurance or reinsurance contract as a stand-alone 
instrument; and 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 

1. Separating components from insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 

- distinct investment components: i.e. investment components that are not highly 
inter-related with the insurance components and for which contracts with 
equivalent terms are sold, or could be sold, separately in the same market or the 
same jurisdiction. 
 

After separating any financial instrument components, the Company separates any 
promises to transfer to policyholders’ distinct goods or services other than insurance 
coverage and investment services and accounts for them as separate contracts with 
customers (i.e. not as insurance contracts). A good or service is distinct if the 
policyholder can benefit from it either on its own or with other resources that are 
readily available to the policyholder. A good or service is not distinct and is accounted 
for together with the insurance component if the cash flows and risks associated with 
the good or service are highly inter-related with the cash flows and risks associated 
with the insurance component, and the Company provides a significant service of 
integrating the good or service with the insurance component. 
 
The Company does not issue any insurance contracts that contain components which 
would not be in the scope of IFRS 17. 
 

2. Aggregation and recognition of insurance and reinsurance contracts 
 

Insurance contracts 
 

Insurance contracts are aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Groups of 
insurance contracts are determined by identifying portfolios of insurance contracts, 
each comprising contracts subject to similar risks and managed together, and dividing 
each portfolio into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each annual cohort into 
three groups based on the profitability of contracts: 
 
- any contracts that are onerous on initial recognition. 
- any contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of 

becoming onerous subsequently; and 
- any remaining contracts in the annual cohort. 

 
An insurance contract issued by the Company is recognised from the earliest of: 
 
- the beginning of its coverage period (i.e. the period during which the Company 

provides services in respect of any premiums within the boundary of the 
contract); 

- when the first payment from the policyholder becomes due or, if there is no 
contractual due date, when it is received from the policyholder; and 

- when facts and circumstances indicate that the contract is onerous. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

2. Aggregation and recognition of insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 

When the contract is recognised, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the 
contract does not qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group to 
which future contracts are added. Groups of contracts are established on initial 
recognition and their composition is not revised once all contracts have been added to 
the group. 

 
Reinsurance contracts 

 
Groups of reinsurance contracts are established such that each group comprises a single 
contract. 
 
Some reinsurance contracts provide cover for underlying contracts that are included in 
different groups. However, the Company concludes that the reinsurance contract’s legal 
form of a single contract reflects the substance of the Company’s contractual rights and 
obligations, considering that the different covers lapse together and are not sold 
separately. As a result, the reinsurance contract is not separated into multiple insurance 
components that relate to different underlying groups. 

 
A group of reinsurance contracts is recognised on the following date: 

 
- Reinsurance contracts initiated by the Company that provide proportionate 

coverage: The date on which any underlying insurance contract is initially 
recognised. This applies to the Company’s quota share reinsurance contracts. 

 
- Other reinsurance contracts initiated by the Company: The beginning of the 

coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts. However, if the Company 
recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts on an earlier date 
and the related reinsurance contract was entered into before that earlier date, then 
the group of reinsurance contracts is recognised on that earlier date. This applies 
to the Company’s excess of loss reinsurance contracts. 

 
3. Insurance acquisition cash flows 

 
Insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of insurance contracts using a 
systematic and rational method and considering, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. 
 
If insurance acquisition cash flows are directly attributable to a group of contracts, then 
they are allocated to that group and to the groups that will include renewals of those 
contracts. The Company expects to recover part of the related insurance acquisition 
cash flows through cancellation of these contracts. The allocation cancellation is based 
on the way the Company expects to recover those cash flows. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

3. Insurance acquisition cash flows (continued) 
 
If insurance acquisition cash flows are directly attributable to a portfolio but not to a 
group of contracts, then they are allocated to groups in the portfolio using a systematic 
and rational method. Insurance acquisition cash flows arising before the recognition of 
the related group of contracts are recognised as an asset. Insurance acquisition cash 
flows arise when they are paid or when a liability is required to be recognised under a 
standard other than IFRS 17. Such an asset is recognised for each group of contracts to 
which the insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated. The asset is derecognised, 
fully or partially, when the insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the 
measurement of the group of contracts . 
 
Recoverability assessment 

 
At each reporting date, if facts and circumstances indicate that an asset for insurance 
acquisition cash flows may be impaired, then the Company: 

 
a. recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss so that the carrying amount of the 

asset does not exceed the expected net cash inflow for the related group; and 
 

b. if the asset relates to future renewals, recognises an impairment loss in profit or 
loss to the extent that it expects those insurance acquisition cash flows to exceed 
the net cash inflow for the expected renewals and this excess has not already been 
recognised as an impairment loss under (a).  

 
c. The Company reverses any impairment losses in profit or loss and increases the 

carrying amount of the asset to the extent that the impairment conditions have 
improved. 

 
The Company does not recognise an asset for insurance acquisition cash flows as at the 
reporting date. 

 
4. Contract Boundaries 

 
The measurement of a group of contracts includes all the future cash flows within the 
boundary of each contract in the group, determined as follows: 

 
Insurance contracts: Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from 
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the 
Company can compel the policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive 
obligation to provide services. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

4. Contract Boundaries (continued) 
 
A substantive obligation to provide services ends when: 

 
- the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the policyholder and 

can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
- the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio that 

contains the contract and can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the 
risks of that portfolio, and the pricing of the premiums up to the reassessment date 
does not consider risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date. 

 
The reassessment of risks considers only risks transferred from policyholders to the 
Company, which may include both insurance and financial risks, but exclude lapse 
and expense risks. 

 
Reinsurance contracts: Cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from 
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the 
Company is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or has a substantive right to 
receive services from the reinsurer. 
 
A substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when the reinsurer: 
 
- has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or 

level of benefits that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
- has a substantive right to terminate the coverage. 

 
The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting date to include the effect of 
changes in circumstances on the Company’s substantive rights and obligations and, 
therefore, may change over time. 

 
5. Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA 

 
The Company uses the PAA to simplify the measurement of groups of contracts when 
the following criteria are met at inception. 
 
Insurance contracts: The coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or 
less. The Company determines the coverage period to be the period in which an 
insured event can occur for which a policyholder can make a valid claim. 

 
Loss-occurring reinsurance contracts: The coverage period of each contract in the 
group is one year or less. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

5. Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA (continued) 
 

Risk-attaching reinsurance contracts: The Company reasonably expects that the 
resulting measurement of the asset for remaining coverage under the PAA would not 
differ materially from the result of applying the general measurement model.  When 
comparing the different possible measurements, the Company considers the impact of 
the different release patterns of the asset for remaining coverage to profit or loss and 
the impact of the time value of money. If significant variability is expected in the 
fulfilment cash flows during the period before a claim is incurred, then this criterion is 
not met. 

 
Insurance contracts: On initial recognition of each group of contracts, the carrying 
amount of the liability for remaining coverage is measured at the premiums received 
on initial recognition minus any insurance acquisition cash flows allocated to the 
group at that date, and adjusted for any amount arising from the derecognition of any 
assets or liabilities previously recognised for cash flows related to the group (including 
assets for insurance acquisition cash flows. The Company has chosen not to expense 
insurance acquisition cash flows when they are incurred. 

 
Subsequently, the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage is increased 
by any premiums received and the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 
recognised as expenses and decreased by the amount recognised as insurance revenue 
for services provided and any additional insurance acquisition cash flows allocated 
after initial recognition.  
 
On initial recognition of each group of contracts, the Company expects that the time 
between providing each part of the services and the related premium due date is no 
more than a year. Accordingly, the Company has chosen not to adjust the liability for 
remaining coverage to reflect the time value of money and the effect of financial risk. 
 
If at any time during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a 
group of contracts is onerous, then the Company recognises a loss in profit or loss and 
increases the liability for remaining coverage to the extent that the current estimates of 
the fulfilment cash flow that relate to remaining coverage exceed the carrying amount 
of the liability for remaining coverage. The company will not discount fulfilment cash 
flows as they are expected to be paid in one year or less from the date claims are 
incurred. 

 
The Company recognises the liability for incurred claims of a group of insurance 
contracts at the amount of the fulfilment cash flows relating to incurred claims. The 
future cash flows are discounted (at current rates) unless they are expected to be paid 
in one year or less from the date the claims are incurred. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

5. Measurement – Contracts measured under the PAA (continued)  
 

Reinsurance contracts: The Company applies the same accounting policies to 
measure a group of reinsurance contracts, adapted where necessary to reflect features 
that differ from those of insurance contracts. 
 

6. Derecognition and contract modification 
 

The Company derecognises a contract when it is extinguished – i.e. when the specified 
obligations in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

 
The Company also derecognises a contract if its terms are modified in a way that 
would have changed the accounting for the contract significantly had the new terms 
always existed, in which case a new contract based on the modified terms is 
recognised. If a contract modification does not result in derecognition, then the 
Company treats the changes in cash flows caused by the modification as changes in 
estimates of fulfilment cash flows. 

 
7. Presentation 

 
Portfolios of insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and 
portfolios of reinsurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, are 
presented separately in the statement of financial position. Any assets or liabilities 
recognised for cash flows arising before the recognition of the related group of 
contracts (including any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the 
carrying amount of the related portfolios of contracts. 

 
The Company disaggregates amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
OCI into 
 
(a) an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance service 

expenses; and 
(b) insurance finance income or expenses. 

 
Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts are presented separately from income 
and expenses from insurance contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance 
contracts, other than insurance finance income or expenses, are presented on a net 
basis as ‘net expenses from reinsurance contracts’ in the insurance service result. 

 
The Company does not disaggregate changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial 
risk between the insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses. 
All changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk are included in the insurance 
service result. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

7. Presentation (continued) 
 

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses exclude any investment 
components and are recognised as follows.  

 
Insurance revenue: The insurance revenue for each period is the amount of expected 
premium receipts for providing services in the period. The Company allocates the 
expected premium receipts to each period on the bases of: 
 
-  the passage of time. 

 
Insurance service expenses: Insurance service expenses arising from insurance 
contracts are recognised in profit or loss generally as they are incurred. They comprise 
the following items. 
 
- Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 
- Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows: the Company amortises 

insurance acquisition cash flows on a straight-line basis over the coverage period 
of the group of contracts. 

- Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses. 
- Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects 

of the time value of money, financial risk and changes therein. 
- Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and reversals of 

such impairment losses. 
 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts: Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 
comprise an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid less amounts recovered from 
reinsurers. 

 
The Company recognises an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid in profit or loss 
as it receives services under groups of reinsurance contracts.  

 
The allocation of reinsurance premiums paid for each period is the amount of expected 
premium payments for receiving services in the period. 

 
For a group of reinsurance contracts covering onerous underlying contracts, the 
Company establishes a loss-recovery component of the asset for remaining coverage 
to depict the recovery of losses recognised: 
 
- on recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance contract 

covering those contracts is entered into before or at the same time as those 
contracts are recognised; and 

- for changes in fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts relating 
to future services that result from changes in fulfilment cash flows of the onerous 
underlying contracts. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Insurance, reinsurance and investment contracts – Classification (continued) 
 

7. Presentation (continued) 
 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts (continued):  
 
The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are subsequently presented 
in profit or loss as reversals of recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts and 
are excluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is adjusted to reflect 
changes in the loss component of the onerous group of underlying contracts, but it 
cannot exceed the portion of the loss component of the onerous group of underlying 
contracts that the Company expects to recover from the reinsurance contracts. 

 
Insurance finance income and expenses: Insurance finance income and expenses 
comprise changes in the carrying amounts of groups of insurance and reinsurance 
contracts arising from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and 
changes therein. 

 
8. Transition 

 
At 1 January 2022, the Company applied the full retrospective approach on transition 
to IFRS 17. 

 
(d) Provisions: 
 

A provision is recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the obligations. 

 
(e) Related parties: 

 
A related party is a person or company that is related to the entity which is preparing its 
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting 
entity”). 

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if 
that person: 
(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity. 

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a 
parent of the reporting entity. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Related parties (continued): 
 

(b) An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 
others). 

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate 
or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a 
member). 

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 

associate of the third entity. 
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan established for the benefit of 

employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting 
entity.  If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers 
are also related to the reporting entity. 

(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the reporting entity 

or is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity (or 
of a parent of the entity).  

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is apart provides key 
management services of the company. 

 
A related party transaction involves transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 
The company has a related party relationship with its directors, parent company, and key 
management personnel. “Key management personnel” represents certain senior officers of 
the company. 

 
(f) Impairment of financial assets: 

 
The company recognises loss allowances for ECL on debt instruments that are not measured 
at FVTPL. 

 
The company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the 
following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:  
 
- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 

date; and  
 
- other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since 

their initial recognition. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 
 
The company considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit 
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The 
company does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments.  
 
12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Financial 
instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial 
instruments.  
 
Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is 
recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial 
instruments. 

 
Measurement of ECL 

 
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:  
- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value 

of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the company expects to receive);  

 
- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between 

the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.  
 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised 
costs are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is 
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; or 

 
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 

 
In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, 
the company considers the following factors.  
 
- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.  

 
- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.  

 
- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.  

 
- The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses 

through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.  
 

- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as 
‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public 
statements, of governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an 
assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, 
whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria. 

 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  

 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as financial 
assets measured at amortised cost; as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets;  

 
Write-off 

 
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering the full amount or a portion of financial asset. This is 
generally the case when the company determines that the borrower does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject 
to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.  
 
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on 
financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. 
 
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order 
to comply with the company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  

 
(i) Calculation of recoverable amount: 
 

The recoverable amount of the company’s investment securities classified as loans 
and receivables and other receivables is calculated as the present value of expected 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate inherent in the 
asset. Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 
 
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less cost to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Impairment of financial assets (continued): 

 
(ii) Reversals of impairment: 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable is reversed if the subsequent increase 
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. 
 
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 
(g) Property, plant and equipment: 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 

  
  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The 

cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in 
the part will flow to the company and its cost can be reliably measured. 

 
  The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit 

or loss as incurred. 
 
  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated 

useful lives of such assets, at the following annual rates: 
 
   
  Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% 
  Computer  33% 
  
  The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each 

reporting date. 
 

(h) Intangible assets and amortisation: 
  
 This includes computer software acquired by the company.  This is measured at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  The estimated useful life of computer 
software is ten (10) years. 

 
(i) Foreign currencies: 

 
Foreign currency balances at the reporting date are translated at the rates of exchange 
ruling on that date.  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the dates of those transactions. Gains and losses arising from 
fluctuations in exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Foreign currencies (continued): 
 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, all foreign currency gains and losses 
recognised in profit or loss are treated as cash items and included in cash flows from 
operating or financing activities along with movements in the relevant balances.  

 
(j) Revenue recognition 

 
 Revenue comprises the fair value for services rendered.  

 
Revenue is recognised as follows: 

 
(a) Insurance revenue 

 
Insurance revenue is recognised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 17  
 
Investment income 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate method to the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets, except for: 

 
 Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, for which the credit-

adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset. 
 

 Financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired but have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest revenue is calculated 
by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost i.e. net of the 
expected credit loss provision. 

 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
(b) Realised and unrealised investment gains and losses 

 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments measured at amortised 
cost or fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of income in 
the period in which they arise. 

 
Unrealised gains and losses on investment securities measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income. On 
derecognition, debt securities gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to the statement of income. 

 
(c) Commission income 

 
Reinsurance commission is recognised on a basis that is consistent with the 
recognition of the costs incurred on the acquisition of the underlying insurance 
contracts. Profit commission in respect of reinsurance contracts is recognised on an 
accrual basis. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k) Taxation: 
 
Taxation of the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive, in which case it is also recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. 
 
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 
extent that the company can control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
(l) Employee benefits: 

 
(i) Pension contribution 

 
Pension plan costs are contributions by the company to approved retirement 
schemes.  Obligations for contributions by the company to the schemes are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss as they fall due. 
 

(ii) Other employee benefits 
 
Employees’ entitlements to leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for vacation leave, as a result of services 
rendered by employees up to the reporting date. 

 
(m) Securities purchased under resale agreements: 

 
Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repos”) are short-term transactions 
whereby an entity buys securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the securities on a 
specified date and at a specified price. Title to the security is not actually transferred 
unless the counterparty fails to comply with the terms of the contract. 
 
Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending, classified as loans 
and receivables and measured at amortised cost. The difference between the sale and 
repurchase considerations is recognised on an accrual basis over the period of the 
transaction and is included in interest income. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(n) Segment reporting: 
 

  A segment is a distinguishable component of the company that is engaged either in 
providing products (business segment), or in providing products within a particular 
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that 
are different from those of other segments. 

 
  The company does not track assets per line of business as these a managed on a combined 

basis, however insurance liabilities, income and expenses are tracked based on the line of 
business [See note 29 and 23 (c)]. The company does not track the other expenses and 
assets by segment. 

 
(o) Determination of fair value: 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Some 
financial instruments lack an available trading market. These instruments have been 
valued using present value or other valuation techniques and the fair value shown may not 
necessarily be indicative of the amounts realisable in an immediate settlement of the 
instruments. 
 
The company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end 
of the reporting period during which the change occurs. 

 
(p) Financial instruments 
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  In these financial statements, 
financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, securities purchased 
under resale agreements,  reinsurance contract assets, receivables and amounts due from 
related party.  Financial liabilities include accounts payable, other payables and insurance 
contract assets. 

 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
Debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or 
minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue.  
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement  
 
Financial assets – Policy applicable from January 1, 2023 

 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised 
cost; fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; 
FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  
 
Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition unless the 
company changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case 
all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting 
period following the change in the business model.  
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(SPPI). 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the 
company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s 
fair value in OCI.  This election is made on an investment-by- investment basis. 

 
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 
- It is held within a business model whose objective is achieve by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
- Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(SPPI). 

 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as 
described above are measured at FVTPL.  On initial recognition, the company 
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
Financial assets – Business model assessment: Policy applicable from 
January 1, 2023  
 
The company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in 
which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way 
the business is managed, and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes:   

 
- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those 

policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses 
on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate 
profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any 
related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through 
the sale of the assets; 

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the 
company’s management; 

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial 
assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed. 

- how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation 
is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows 
collected; and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, 
the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.  
However, the information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, 
but as part of an overall assessment of how the company’s stated objective 
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are 
realised. 

 
Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest: Policy applicable from January 1, 2023  

 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the 
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the 
time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period and for other basic lending risks and costs 
(e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.  

 
The company’s objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets.  
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest: Policy applicable from January 1, 2023 
(continued) 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest, the company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This 
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would 
not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the company considers the 
following: 
 
- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows. 
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate 

features. 
- terms that limit the company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. 

non-recourse features). 
 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and 
interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid 
amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may 
include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. 
 
Reclassification 

 
Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition except in the 
period after the company changes its business model for managing financial assets 
in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first reporting 
period following the change in business model.  

 
Policy applicable before January 1, 2023 

 
Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time 
of purchase, taking account of the purpose for which the investments were 
purchased. 
 
The company classified non-derivative financial assets into the following 
categories:   
 

 Loans and receivables: Securities acquired with fixed or determinable 
payments, and which were not quoted in an active market, were classified as 
loans and receivables. 

 

 Financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss: Securities 
acquired which are quoted in an active market were classified as investments 
carried at fair value through profit or loss. They were intended to be held for 
an indefinite period and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or 
changes in interest rates or market price.  

 

 Other financial liabilities: The company classified non-derivative financial 
liabilities into this category. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Derecognition 
 

The company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its 
statement of financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the 
transferred assets are not derecognised. An example of such transactions are sale-
and-repurchase transactions.  
 
In transactions in which the company neither retains nor transfers substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control 
over the asset, the company continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to 
changes in the value of the transferred asset.  
 
The company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged or cancelled or expired.  
 
Policy applicable from January 1, 2023 

 
 Financial assets at FVTPL-These assets are subsequently measured at fair 

value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 

 Financial assets at amortised cost-These assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is 
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Derecognition (continued) 
 

Policy applicable from January 1, 2023 (continued) 
 

 Debt investments at FVOCI-These assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains 
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

 Unquoted equity investments at FVOCI-These assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and 
are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Loans and receivables: On initial recognition they are measured at fair value, plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs.  After initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment 
losses.  Premiums and discounts are included in the carrying amount of the related 
instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of the instrument. 

 
Where securities classified as loans and receivables become quoted in an active 
market, such securities will not be reclassified as Financial assets at FVTPL.  An 
active market is one where quoted price are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange dealer, broker or other agency and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL: On initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  After initial recognition, they are 
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
fair value treated as follows: 
 
 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign 

currency and classified as Financial assets at FVTPL are analysed between 
translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the 
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.  The 
translation differences are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Changes in 
the fair value of securities classified as Financial assets at FVOCI are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.    

 
 When securities classified as Financial assets at FVOCI are sold or impaired, 

and therefore derecognised, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
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6. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iv) Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in 
the statement of financial position when, and only when, the company currently 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle 
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under 
IFRS. 

 
 
7. Property, plant and equipment 
 
      Furniture,  
      fixtures   
     Leasehold and   
    Computer improvement equipment Total 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Cost: 
  December 31, 2021  29,336 827 15,281 45,444 
  Additions    2,822   -         -        2,822 
  December 31, 2022  32,158 827 15,281 48,266 
  Disposal  (     175)   -         -      (     175) 
  Additions    1,360   -         302   1,662  
  December 31, 2023  33,343 827 15,583 49,753   
 Accumulated depreciation: 
  December 31, 2021  16,261 827 7,871 24,959 

 Charge for the year    3,766   -         824   4,590 
 December 31, 2022  20,027 827  8,695 29,549 
 Disposals  (     175)   -         -      (     175) 
 Charge for the year    3,951   -         780   4,731  
 December 31, 2023  23,803 827   9,475 34,105  

 
 Net book values: 
  December 31, 2023    9,540   -      6,108 15,648  
  December 31, 2022  12,131   -      6,586 18,717  
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8. Intangible asset 
       Software 
   $’000 
 Cost: 

 December 31, 2022 6,425 
Additions 1,200 
December 31, 2023 7,625 

 
 Amortisation: 

 December 31, 2021 3,235 
 Charge for the year    642 
 December 31, 2022 3,877 
 Charge for the year    776  
 December 31, 2023 4,653  
 

 Net book value: 
 December 31, 2023 2,972  
 December 31, 2022 2,548 

 
 
9. Deferred taxation 

 
Deferred income taxes are calculated using a principal tax rate of 16.67% (33⅓% restricted to 50% 
based on remission years 5 to 10). 

 
 Deferred tax asset is attributable to the following: 

 
   December 31, Recognised December 31, Recognised December 31, 
  2021  in income  2022   in income   2023   
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 (note 22) (note 22) 
 

Property plant and equipment (   354) (   330) (   684) (   137) (   821) 
Other receivables (1,079) (   325) (1,404) (   518) (   572) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains (   171) (   318) (   489) (     83) (1,922) 
Unrealised gains/(loss) on investment -     -     -     (   102) (   102)  
Tax losses 9,596 (   701) 8,895 (8,895)     -      

 7,992 (1,674) 6,318 (9,735) (3,417)  
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10. Investments  
 

  2023  
 Fair value Fair value 
 through other Amortised  through  
 comprehensive income      cost       Profit and loss Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Quoted shares  -     -      49,219 49,219 
Preference shares  -     -      74,948 74,948 
Unit Trust   -     -      898 898 
Corporate Bonds JM  -     157,222 -      157,222 
Corporate Bonds US  -     68,781 -      68,781 
Global Bonds - TT  50,398 -      -      50,398 
GOJ Bonds       -     129,188        -      129,188 
    50,398 355,191 125,065 530,654 
Less: Impairment allowance       -     (    1,576)        -      (    1,576) 
    50,398 353,615 125,065 529,078  
 

  2022  
 Fair value Fair value 
 through other Amortised  through  
 comprehensive income      cost       Profit and loss Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Quoted shares  -     -    51,991 51,991 
Preference shares  -     -    60,319 60,319 
Unit Trust   -     -    984 984 
Corporate Bonds JM  -     105,342 -      105,342 
Corporate Bonds US  -     68,811 -      68,811 
Global Bonds - TT  49,323 -    -      49,323 
GOJ Bonds      -      129,533        -      129,533 
    49,323 303,686 113,294 466,303 

 
 Investments include Government of Jamaica securities and corporate bonds denominated in 

foreign currency aggregating US$1,046,978 (2022: US$1,336,000). 
 
 A Jamaica dollar Government of Jamaica bond of $45,000,000 (2022: $45,000,000) is held to 

the order of the Financial Services Commission as required by the Insurance Act 2001. 
 

Investments, excluding interest receivable, are due from the reporting date as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
 
No specific maturity  125,065 113,293 
1 year to 5 years  271,905 220,585 
Over 5 years  132,108 132,425 

       529,078 466,303 
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10. Investments (continued) 
 

Credit risk 
 
The following table presents the fair value and the amount of the change in fair value of the 
company’s financial assets as at and for the year ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 
2022, showing separately the fair value of financial assets with contractual terms that give rise to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(“SPPI”) and the fair value of financial assets that do not give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“non-SPPI”): 
 

  December 31, 2023  
 
Credit rating Carrying value  % of  
 Amount Fair value Fair value 
 $’000 $’000 
Bonds and debentures and 
   short-term investments  
AA- 38,384 36,719 7% 
BB 156,954 162,882 32% 
BBB 54,791 53,625 10% 
BBB- 19,972 19,844 4% 
BB- 208,914 211,608 42% 
B+   26,440   26,440     5%  
 505,455 511,118 100% 

 
 

  December 31, 2022  
Credit rating Carrying value  % of  
 Amount Fair value Fair value 
 $’000 $’000 
Bonds and debentures and 
   short-term investments 
BB 20,000 20,000 4%  
BBB 77,696 77,696 14% 
B 416,301 420,594 77% 
B+   25,816   25,816     5%  
 539,813 544,106 100% 
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11. Due from related party 
 
This balance is due from Granite Group Limited.  The amount is unsecured and payable on 
demand.  Other terms are to be determined. There was no other transaction with Granite Group 
Limited during the year. Related party receivables are determined to have low credit risk. The 
expected credit losses on these balances are immaterial. 
 
 

12. Receivables  
    2023 2022 
    $'000 $'000 
  
 Accrued investment income  12,069 11,247 
 Other receivables  40,012   2,707 
     52,081 13,954 
  

Information relating to credit risk management of receivables is outlined in more detail in note 
24(a)(i). No impairment loss was recognised in respect of other receivables in the current or 
prior year. These are considered to have low credit risk. 

 
 
13. Short term investments  
    2023 2022 
    $'000 $'000 
  
 Amortised Cost: 
  USD Bonds     38,396  82,604 
  JMD Bonds  63,227 104,200 
     101,623 186,804 
 Less: Impairment allowance  (       181)        -       
     101,442 186,804 
 
 
14. Securities purchased under resale agreements 

 
   $’000 $’000 
 
 Securities purchased under resale agreements         -       90,000 

 
The fair value of securities held as collateral for securities purchased under resale agreements as 
at December 31, 2023 was $Nil (2022: $93,901,000). 

 
 
15. Other payables 
  2023 2022 
   $’000 $’000 
 
 Other payables and accrued charges  37,372 35,243 
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16. Insurance and reinsurance contracts  
 
i) Insurance contract liabilities: 
 

    2023  
    Total   
    LRC   LIC  
    Estimates of Risk  
    present value adjustment for 
    of future non-financial 
     cash flows   risk  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Opening liabilities    180,516 319,228 31,090    530,834  
Changes in the statement of profit or loss 
   and OCI  
Insurance revenue (1,395,361)       -             -     (1,395,361)  
Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other insurance acquisition 
   cash flows 273,353 251,036       -     524,389 
Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims         -          35,356   5,345      40,701 
    273,353 286,392 5,345 565,090  
Insurance service results (1,122,008) 286,392 5,345 (   830,271)  
Net finance expense from insurance contracts         -        (    9,497)       -     (       9,497) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates        -              -             -             -         
Total changes in the statement of profit or  
   loss and OCI (1,122,008) 276,895 5,345 (   839,768)  
Cash flows 
Premiums received 1,558,276       -             -     1,558,276 
Claims and other insurance service expenses 
   paid        -        (198,944)       -     (   198,944) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows (   273,353)       -             -     (   273,353) 
Total cash flows 1,284,923 (198,944)       -     1,085,979 
Closing liabilities    343,431 397,179 36,435    777,045 
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16. Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 
i) Insurance contract liabilities (continued): 
 

    2022  
    Total   
    LRC   LIC  
    Estimates of Risk  
    present value adjustment for 
    of future non-financial 
     cash flows   risk  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Opening liabilities    115,548 225,013 23,579    364,140  
Changes in the statement of profit or loss 
   and OCI 
Insurance revenue (   991,895)       -             -     (   991,895) 
Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other insurance acquisition 
   cash flows 221,680 196,150       -     417,830 
Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims         -          66,073   7,511      73,584  
 221,680 262,223 7,511 491,414  
Insurance service results (   770,215) 262,223 7,511 (   500,481)  
Net finance expense from insurance contracts         -        (  13,550)       -     (     13,550) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates        -              -            -            -         
Total changes in the statement of profit or 
   loss and OCI (   770,215) 248,673 7,511 (   514,031)  
Cash flows 
Premiums received 1,020,921       -             -     1,020,921 
Claims and other insurance service expenses 
   paid         -        (154,458)       -     (   154,458) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows (   185,738)       -             -     (   185,738)  
Total cash flows    835,183 (154,458)       -        680,725 
Closing liabilities    180,516 319,228 31,090    530,834  
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16. Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 
ii) Reinsurance contract assets 
 

    2023  
    Total   
    ARC   AIC  
    Estimates of Risk  
    present value adjustment for 
    of future non-financial 
     cash flows   risk  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Opening assets (     68,536) 329,871 12,567    273,902  
Changes in the statement of profit or loss 
   and OCI 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums (1,177,401)       -             -     (1,177,401)  
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 
Recoveries of incurred claims and other 
   insurance service expenses 270,773 160,620       -     431,393 
Adjustments to assets for incurred claims         -          28,778       -          28,778 
Effect of changes in non-performance 
   risk of reinsurers         -          6,676       -            6,676 
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts (   906,628) 196,074       -      (   710,554)  
Net finance income from reinsurance contracts         -        (    6,478)       -     (       6,478) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates        -              -             -             -         
Total changes in the statement of profit or  
   loss and OCI (   906,628) 189,596       -     (    717,032)  
Cash flows 
Premiums paid 1,166,135      -       -     1,166,135  
Amounts received (Commission) (   270,472) (  25,754)       -     (   296,226) 
Total cash flows    895,663 (  25,754)       -        869,909  
Closing assets (     79,501) 493,713 12,567    426,779 
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16. Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 

ii) Reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
    2022  
    Total   
    ARC   AIC  
    Estimates of Risk  
    present value adjustment for 
    of future non-financial 
     cash flows   risk  Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Opening assets (  50,169) 196,046 12,567 158,444  
Changes in the statement of profit or 
   loss and OCI 
Allocation of reinsurance premiums (821,781)       -             -     (821,781)  
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 
Recoveries of incurred claims and other 
   insurance service expenses 213,411 132,555       -     345,966 
Adjustments to assets for incurred claims       -         34,313       -       34,313  
Effect of changes in non-performance risk  
  of reinsurers       -         3,893       -         3,893  
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts (608,370) 170,761       -     (437,609)  
Net finance income from reinsurance contracts         -        (    8,608)       -     (    8,608) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates       -             -             -          -         
Total changes in the statement of profit or 
   loss and OCI (608,370) 162,153       -     (446,217)  
Cash flows 
Premiums paid 803,378       -             -     803,378  
Amounts received (Commission) (213,375) (  28,328)       -     (241,703) 
Total cash flows 590,003 (  28,328)       -     561,675  
Closing assets (  68,536) 329,871 12,567 273,902 
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16. Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued) 
 
iii) Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows 
 

    $'000 
  
Balance as at 1 January, 2022 78,929 
Amounts derecognised and included in the measurement of 
   insurance contracts   11,569 
Balances at 31 December 2022 90,498 
Balance as at 1 January, 2023 90,498 
Amounts derecognised and included in the measurement of 
   insurance contracts   23,687 
Balances at 31 December 2023 114,185 
 
Assets for insurance acquisition cash flows are presented in the carrying amount of the related 
portfolio of insurance contracts as follows: 
  

    $'000 
 

Balance at January 1, 2022 
Presented in insurance contract liabilities   78,929 

Balance at 31 December 2022  
Presented in insurance contract liabilities   90,498 

Balance at 31 December 2023  
Presented in insurance contract liabilities 114,185 

 
Insurance acquisition cashflows will  be derecognised in the next financial year. 
Insurance acquisition cashflows are included in the liability for remaining coverage. 
 

 
 

17. Share capital 
  2023 2022 
   $’000 $’000 
 Authorised: 
  25,000,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value   
 
 Stated capital: 
 Issued and fully paid as stock units: 
 214,000,000 (2022: 214,000,000) ordinary shares of no par value 485,824 485,824 
 Less: Share issue costs  (  20,284) (  20,284) 
    465,540 465,540 
  
 Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 

one vote per share at general meetings of the company. 
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18. Capital reserves 
 
 This represents contributed capital of $139,340,000 (2022: $139,340,000), from parent company. 
 
 
19. Disclosure of expenses  
 
 Profit before taxation is stated after charging: 
 

(a) Related party transactions : 
  Restated* 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 

 Compensation of key management personnel is as follows: 
  
 Short term employment benefits 49,248 46,637 
  Pension contributions [see note 6(l)]     3,142     2,360 
     52,390   48,997 
 Directors - Premiums 83,440 59,195 
  - Claims paid     3,108          72 
 

(b) Operating expenses: 
   Restated* 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
 
Claims and Benefits 282,244 256,182  
Salaries and employee benefits 115,463 107,560  
Directors remuneration 4,625 4,625  
Professional fees (other than legal) 15,028 5,983  
Commissions 155,257 118,003  
Depreciation and Amortisation 5,507 5,232  
Occupancy expenses (including rent, leasing and maintenance) 6,600 6,600  
Information technology 25,132 21,746  
Inspections and Investigations 8,700 8,195  
Audit Fees 15,000 11,233  
Motor Vehicle Expenses 13,148 12,344  
Other expenses   32,647   27,919  
 679,351 585,622  
Amounts attributed to insurance acquisition cash flows 
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows (    5,251) (    4,154)  
 674,100 581,468  
Represented by: 

Insurance service expenses  555,594 477,864 
General and operating expenses 118,506 103,604 

Total 674,100 581,468 
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20. Investment income 
     2023 2022 
     $'000 $'000 

(a) Interest income recognised using the effective interest method: 
  Securities at amortised cost 57,371 43,073  
   Securities at FVOCI   5,299   3,709  
     62,670 46,782  

(b) Other investment revenue: 
 Dividend income    8,292   7,110 
 Unrealized loss on investment (  3,295) -      
 Gain on sale of investment   6,391 10,367 

     11,388 17,477  
 
 
21. Earnings per share 
  
 Earning per ordinary stock unit, is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders 

by the number of stock units in issue during the year. The basic earnings per ordinary stock unit 
and diluted earnings per ordinary stock unit are the same as there are no dilutive potential 
shares.  

 
     2023 2022 
     $'000 $'000 
  
 Profit for the year   83,964   33,629  
 Number of ordinary stock unit in issue (‘000) 214,000 214,000  
 Earnings per share 39 cents 16 cents 
 
 
22. Taxation 

 
 (a) The charge for taxation is based on profit for the year adjusted for tax purposes and 

comprises the following: 
    

   Restated* 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 

(i) Current taxation: 
 Income tax at 16.67% [note 22(d)] 9,401 701 
(ii) Deferred taxation: 
 Origination and reversal of   
 temporary differences (note 9)   9,735 1,674  
   19,136 2,375  
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22. Taxation (continued) 
 

(b) The expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for tax purposes and is made up 
as follows: 

   Restated* 
 2023 2022 
   $’000 $’000 
  Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 
  Profit before taxation 103,100 33,629 
  Computed "expected" tax expense at 16.67 % [note 22(d)] 17,187 5,605 
  Difference between profit for financial 
     statements and tax reporting purposes on: 
  Depreciation charge and capital allowances (         48) 107 
  Items not allowed for tax purposes 1,917 (  3,359) 
  Capital foreign exchange loss 515 1,047  
  Effects of IFRS 17 adoption not subjected to tax -       (     516) 
  Dividend (       435) (     509)  
  Actual tax expense   19,136   2,375 
 

(c) Subject to the agreement of the Commissioner General, Tax Administration Jamaica, tax 
losses aggregating approximately $Nil (2022: $53,358,000) are available for set off 
against future taxable profits. If unutilised, these can be carried forward indefinitely, 
however the amount that can be utilised is restricted to 50% of chargeable income (before 
prior year) in any one year. 
 

(d) The company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock exchange, 
effective March 15, 2016.  Consequently, the company is entitled to a remission of taxes 
for ten (10) years in the proportions set out below, provided the shares remain listed for at 
least fifteen (15) years: 
 
Year 1 to 5  100% 
Year 5 to 10 50% 

 
The tax rate applicable to the company is 33⅓%.  However, due to the 50% remission, a 
tax rate of 16.67% is applied. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the company will have the 
full benefit of the tax remissions. 
 
 

23. Insurance risk management 
 
Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk: 
 
(a) Overview: 

 
The company’s management of insurance risk is a critical aspect of the business. The 
primary insurance activity carried out by the company is the transfer of risk from persons 
or entities that are directly subject to the risk, by means of the sale of insurance policies. 
As such the company is exposed to uncertainty surrounding the timing, frequency and 
severity of claims under these policies.  
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 
Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk (continued): 
 
(a) Overview (continued): 

 
Underwriting strategy: 
 
The company seeks to underwrite a balanced portfolio of risks at rates and terms that will 
produce underwriting results consistent with its long-term objectives. 
 
The board of directors approves the underwriting strategy which is set out in an annual 
business plan and management is responsible for the attainment of the established 
objective. 
 
Reinsurance strategy: 
 
The company reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to protect capital 
resources and to limit its exposure to variations in the projected frequency and severity of 
losses. 
 
Ceded reinsurance includes credit risk, and the company monitors the financial condition 
of reinsurers on an ongoing basis and reviews its reinsurance arrangements periodically.  
The board of directors is responsible for setting the minimum security criteria for 
accepting reinsurance and monitoring the purchase of reinsurance against those criteria.  
They also monitor its adequacy on an ongoing basis.  Credit risk on reinsurance is 
addressed in more detail in note 24(a). 
 

(b) Terms and conditions of general insurance contracts: 
 
The table below provides an overview of the terms and conditions of general insurance 
contracts written by the company and the key factors upon which the timing and 
uncertainty of future cash flows of these contracts depend. 

 
 

Type of contract Terms and  
conditions 

Key factors affecting 
 future cash flows 

   
Liability Under these contracts, 

compensation is paid for 
injury suffered by 
individuals, including 
corporate contracts to 
cover employees or 
external agents.  The main 
liability exposures are in 
relation to death, bodily 
injury, and damage to 
property. 

The timing of claim reporting and 
settlement is a function of factors 
such as the nature of the coverage 
and the policy provisions. 
 
The majority of bodily injury claims 
have a relatively short tail and are 
settled in full within four years. In 
general, these contracts involve 
greater estimation uncertainty. 
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Terms and conditions of general insurance contracts (continued): 

 
Type of contract Terms and  

conditions 
Key factors affecting 
future cash flows 

 
Property  

 
Property insurance 
indemnifies, subject to any 
limits or excesses, the 
policyholder against the 
loss or damage to their 
own material property and 
business interruption 
arising from this damage. 

 
The risk on any policy varies 
according to many factors such as 
location, safety measures in place 
and the age of the property. 
 
The event giving rise to a claim for 
damage to buildings or contents 
usually occurs suddenly (as for fire 
and burglary) and the cause is easily 
determinable. Therefore, claims are 
generally notified promptly and can 
be settled without delay. 
 
The cost of repairing, rebuilding or 
replacement of assets and/or contents 
and the time taken to restart or 
resume operations to original levels 
for business interruption losses are 
the key factors influencing the level 
of claims under these policies.  

 
Motor 

 
Motor insurance contracts 
provide cover in respect of 
policyholders’ motor 
vehicles and their liability 
to third parties in respect 
of damage to property and 
injury. The exposure on 
motor insurance contracts 
is normally limited to the 
replacement value of the 
vehicle and a policy limit 
in respect of third party 
damage.  

 
In general, claims reporting lags are 
minor and claim complexity is 
relatively low. The frequency of 
claims is affected by excessive 
speeding, the condition of the road 
network, failure by some motorists to 
obey traffic signals and an overall 
increase in the incidence of motor 
vehicle theft.  The number of claims 
is also correlated with economic 
activity, which also affects the 
amount of traffic activity.  
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Risk exposure and concentrations of risk: 
 
Liability contracts: 
 
Risks arising from liability insurance are managed primarily through pricing, product 
design, risk selection, adopting an appropriate investment strategy, rating and reinsurance. 
The company monitors and reacts to changes in the general economic and commercial 
environment in which it operates to ensure that only liability risks which meet its criteria 
for profitability are underwritten. In pricing contracts, the company makes assumptions 
that costs will increase in line with the latest available financial and actuarial forecasts. 
 
Property contracts: 
 
The risks relating to property contracts are managed primarily through the pricing process. 
The company uses strict underwriting criteria to ensure that the risk of losses is 
acceptable. Furthermore, the company accepts property insurance risks for one year so that 
each contract can be re-priced on renewal to reflect the continually evolving risk profile.  
 
Motor contracts: 
 
The risks relating to motor contracts are managed primarily through the pricing process.  
The company monitors and reacts to changes in trends of injury awards, litigation and the 
frequency of claims. 
 
The following table shows the company’s exposure to general insurance risk (based on the 
carrying value of claims outstanding at the reporting date) per class of business. 
 
 
  2023  

   Liability Property Motor Other Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Gross   116,131 28,255 242,192 47,036 433,614 
Net of reinsurance     40,759   3,804 115,936 10,467 170,966  
 
 
  2022   

   Liability Property Motor Other Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Gross   76,092 31,911 218,555 23,760 350,318 
Net of reinsurance     34,969   3,758 106,063   6,195 150,985 

 
(d) Claims development: 
 
 Claims development information is disclosed in order to illustrate the insurance risk 

inherent in the company.  The top part of the table shows how the estimates of total claims 
for each accident year develop over time.  The estimates are increased or decreased as 
losses paid and more information become known about the severity of unpaid claims.  The 
lower part of the table provides a reconciliation of the total provision included in the 
statement of financial position and the estimate of cumulative claims. 
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Claims development (continued): 
 

 Analysis of net claims development  
  accident year  

  2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Estimate of cumulative claims 
  at end of accident year   210,852 184,004 191,043 256,858 279,945  
- one year later  221,437 238,963 186,578 271,804   
- two years later  284,125 235,449 194,860 -       
- three years later    297,749 230,465 -     -     -      
- four years later  292,250  -      -     -     -      

Estimate of cumulative 
  claims  292,250 230,465 194,860 271,804 279,945 1,269,324  
Cumulative payments to date (270,544) (216,480) (125,466) (164,947) (  57,441) (   834,878)  
Gross undiscounted  
   outstanding claims liability 21,706 13,985 69,394 106,857 222,504 434,446 
Ceded claims liability  (  11,986) (    7,495) (  48,161) (  62,763) (132,185) (   262,590)  
Net undiscounted claims 
  liabilities  9,720 6,490 21,233 44,094 90,319 171,856  
Discounting  (    1,273) (       333) (    1,475) (    2,925) (    8,183) (    14,189) 
Risk adjustment         801        526     1,790     3,706     6,476     13,299 
Net outstanding claims 
   liability      9,248     6,683   21,548   44,875   88,612    170,966 

 
(e) Fulfilment cash flows 

 
Fulfilment cash flows compromise: 

 
- Estimates of future cash flows; 
- Fulfilment cash flows are not discounted as they are expected to be paid in one year or 

less from the date claims are incurred;  
- A risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 

 
The company’s objective in estimating future cash flows is to determine the expected value 
of a range of scenarios that reflects the full range of possible outcomes. The cash flows from 
each scenario are discounted and weighted by the estimated probability of that outcome to 
derive an expected present value. If there are significant interdependencies between cash 
flows that vary based on changes in market variables and other cash flows, then the Company 
will use stochastic modelling techniques to estimate the expected present value, however 
currently there are no significant interdependencies. 
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Fulfilment cash flows (continued) 
 

Estimates of future cash flows 
 
In estimating future cash flows, the company incorporates, in an unbiased way, all 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 
reporting date. This information includes both internal and external historic data about 
claims and other experience, updated to reflect current expectations of future events. 
 
The estimate of future cash flows reflect the company’s view of current conditions at the 
reporting date, as long as the estimates of any relevant market variables are consistent with 
observable market prices. 

 
When estimating future cash flows, the company takes into account current expectations of 
future events that might affect those cash flows. However, expectations of future changes in 
legislation that would change or discharge present obligation or create new obligations 
under existing contracts are not taken into account until the change in legislation is 
substantively enacted. The point estimates have inherent impact of inflation. 
 
Cash flows within the boundary of a contract relate directly to the fulfilment of the 
contract, including those for which the company has discretion over the amount or timing. 
These include payments to (or on behalf of) policyholders, insurance acquisition cash flows 
and other costs that are incurred in fulfilling contracts. 
 
Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and 
starting a group of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to 
which the group belongs. Other costs that are incurred in fulfilling the contracts include: 

 
- Administration costs; and 
- Recurring commissions payable on instalment premiums receivable within the contract 

boundary. 
 

Discount rates 
 

All cash flows are discounted using risk-free yield curves adjusted to reflect the 
characteristics of the cash flows and the liquidity of the insurance contracts. The company 
generally determines the risk free-rates using the observed mid-price swap yield curves for 
AA-rated banks (adjusted for the bank’s credit risk). The company used the risk free rates 
provided by FSC Jamaica with a credit rating of BB-  (2022: Bloomberg rates as at 31st 
March 31, 2023 with a credit rating of  B+) (2021:  Government of Jamaica treasury bills 
with a credit rating of B+). 
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Fulfilment cash flows (continued) 
 
Discount rates (continued) 

 
The table below sets out the yield curves used to discount the cash flows of insurance contracts 
for major currencies. 
 
The yield curve is interpolated between the last available market data point and an ultimate 
forward rate, which reflects long-term real interest rate and inflation expectations. For markets in 
which there is no reliable swap yield curve, government bond yields are used. Although the 
ultimate forward rate is subject to revision, it is expected to be stable and would change only on 
significant changes to long-term expectations. To reflect the liquidity characteristics of the 
insurance contracts, the risk-free yield curves are adjusted by an illiquidity premium. Illiquidity 
premiums are generally determined by comparing the spreads on corporate bonds with the costs 
of CDSs with matching critical terms for the same issuer. 
 
  2023   2022  

  1 year 5 years 10 years 1 year 5 years 10 years 
 

General insurance 
   (issued and reinsurance held) 8.41% 7.48% 10.57% 6.9% 7.34% 7.75%  

 
Risk adjustments for non-financial risk 
 
To determine the risk adjustments for non-financial risk for reinsurance contracts, the company 
applies these techniques both gross and net of reinsurance and derives the amount of risk being 
transferred to the reinsurer as the difference between the two results.  
 
Applying a confidence level technique, the company estimates the probability distribution of the 
expected present value of the future cash flows from insurance contracts at each reporting date 
and calculates the risk adjustment for non-financial risk as the excess of the value at risk at the 
75th percentile (the target confidence level) over the expected present value of the future cash 
flows. 
 

(f) Sensitivity analysis 
 
The table below analyses how the, profit or loss and equity would have increased (decreased) 
if changes in underwriting risk variables that were reasonably possible at the reporting date 
had occurred. This analysis presents the sensitivities both before and after risk mitigation by 
reinsurance and assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 

  2023  
  Profit or loss   Equity  
 Gross Net Gross Net 
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
 
Ultimate claims (5% increase) (20,732) (7,600) (20,732) (7,600) 
Ultimate claims (5% decrease)  20,732 7,600 20,732 7,600  
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23. Insurance risk management (continued) 
 

(f) Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

  2022  
  Profit or loss   Equity  
 Gross Net Gross Net 
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
 
Ultimate claims (5% increase) (16,509) (6,539) (16,509) (6,539) 
Ultimate claims (5% decrease)  16,509 6,539 16,509 6,539  

 
 
24. Financial risk management 

 
The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
Credit risk 
Liquidity risk 
Market risk 
 
Risk management framework: 
 
This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the 
company’s management of capital. 

 
 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

company’s financial risk management framework. The company’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the company, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to established limits.  The Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for developing and monitoring the 
company’s financial risk management policies.  These persons report regularly to the Board on 
their activities. The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
company’s management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the company.  The focus of financial 
risk management for the company is ensuring that the proceeds from its financial assets are 
sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The goal of the investment 
management process is to optimise the, risk-adjusted net of taxes investment income and risk-
adjusted total return by investing in a diversified portfolio of securities, whilst ensuring that the 
assets and liabilities are managed on a cash flow and duration basis.  

 
 The Management team is responsible for the asset/liability management policy of the company. 

This policy details the framework for matching liabilities with appropriate assets, the approaches 
to be taken when liabilities cannot be matched and the required monitoring processes. The 
matching of assets and liabilities is also governed by the existing regulatory framework. 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Risk management framework (continued): 

 
 The asset/liability matching process is largely influenced by estimates of the timing of payments. 

These estimates are revaluated on a regular basis. There are also criteria for ensuring the 
matching of assets and liabilities as investment markets change. 

 
(a) Credit risk  

 
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a counterparty fails to meet its 

contractual obligations.  The company’s key areas of exposure to credit risk include:  
 
• debt securities, and cash and cash equivalents; 
• receivables; 
• reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities; and 
• amounts due from reinsurers in respect of payments already made to policyholders. 
 
The nature of the company’s exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior period.  

 
(i) Management of credit risk  

 
The company manages its credit risk in respect of debt securities by placing limits on 
its exposure to a single counterparty, by reference to the credit rating of the 
counterparty. The company has a policy of investing only in high quality corporate 
bonds and government issued debts. 

 
Its exposure to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders is monitored as 
part of its credit control process. Financial analyses are conducted for significant 
exposures to individual policyholders or homogenous groups of policyholders.  

 
All intermediaries must meet minimum requirements that are established and 
enforced by the company’s management. The credit ratings and payment histories of 
intermediaries are monitored on a regular basis.  

 
The company also operates a policy to manage its reinsurance counterparty 
exposures. The company assesses the credit worthiness of all reinsurers by reviewing 
public rating information and from internal investigations. The impact of reinsurer 
default is measured regularly and managed accordingly.  
 
Exposure to credit risk 
 

    2023   
  AA A B BBB BB- BBB- Not rated Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets:  
  Investments      -       -      26,440 34,820 322,781 19,972 125,065 529,078 
  Short-term investment 38,384 -           -      19,972 43,086      -            -       101,442 
  Cash and cash equivalents       -            -             -           -      349,001      -        46,922    395,923  
     38,384      -        26,440 54,792 714,868 19,972 171,987 1,026,443  

Reinsurance assets  
  Neither past due nor impaired 331,746 95,033        -           -           -            -            -          426,779  
 Receivables:  
  Neither past due nor impaired      -            -             -           -           -            -        52,081      52,081 

Due to related party      -            -             -           -           -            -             746          746 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Risk management framework (continued): 
 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
(i) Management of credit risk (continued)  

 
    2022   
  AA A B+ BBB BB- BBB- Not rated Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Financial assets:  
  Investments      -            -      279,314 53,696 20,000 -      113,293 466,303 
  Short-term investments      -            -      162,804 24,000 -      -            -       186,804 
  Cash and cash equivalents      -            -      105,000       -      -      -      37,404 142,404 
  Securities purchased under 
     resale agreement       -            -             -           -            -            -            -                -        
        -            -      547,118 77,696   20,000      -      150,697    795,511 

Reinsurance assets  
  Neither past due nor impaired 250,891 23,011        -           -            -           -           -         273,902 
 Receivables:  
  Neither past due nor impaired      -            -             -           -            -           -        13,954      13,954  

Due to related party      -            -             -           -            -           -          2,984        2,984 
 

 The carrying amounts of financial assets and cash and cash equivalents do not 
include any assets that are either past due or impaired. 

 
 The company has no financial assets or reinsurance assets that would have been 

past due or impaired, whose terms have been renegotiated.  
 

 The company does not hold any collateral as security or any credit enhancements, 
(such as guarantees, credit derivatives and netting arrangements that do not qualify 
for offset).    

 
(ii) Investments in debt securities: 

 
 The Company limits its exposure to credit risk associated with investment securities 

by investing mainly in liquid securities with counterparties that have high credit 
quality and Government of Jamaica securities.  
 
Credit quality 
 
The Company identifies changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit 
ratings. To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date that 
has not been reflected in published ratings, the company supplements this by 
reviewing changes in bond yields together with available press and regulatory 
information on issuers. 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
  

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Investments in debt securities (continued): 
 

12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on historical data supplied by 
each credit rating and are recalibrated based on current bond yields. Loss given 
default (LGD) parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery rate of percent 
except when the security is credit-impaired, in which case the estimate of loss based 
on the instrument’s current market price and original effective interest rate. 
 
The following table sets out the credit quality of debt investment securities based on 
Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s ratings as follows: 
 
  2023  

 Stage 1 Total 
 $’000 $’000 

Debt Securities  
at Amortised Cost:    
AA- 38,384 38,384 
BB 156,953 156,953 
BBB 30,833 30,833 
BBB- 19,972 19,972 
BB- 208,914 208,914 
Total carrying amount 455,056 455,056 
Loss allowance (    1,757) (    1,757) 
 
Debt Securities at FVOCI: 
BBB 23,958   23,958  
B+ 26,440    26,440  
Total carrying amount 50,398      50,398  
Loss allowance (         5) (           5) 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
  

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Investments in debt securities (continued): 
 
  2022  

 Stage 1 Total 
   $’000 $’000 
Debt Securities  
at Amortised Cost:    
BB 20,000 20,000 
BBB 54,189 54,189 
B 416,301 416,301 
Total carrying amount 490,490 490,490 
Loss allowance       -             -        
    
Debt Securities at FVOCI: 
BBB 23,507 23,507 
B+   25,816   25,816 
Total carrying amount   49,323   49,323 
Loss allowance       -             -        
 

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and other financial institutions 
counterparties with 1 ratings. 
 
Impairment has been measured at 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the 
short maturities of the exposures. The company considered that cash resources have 
low credit risk as they are held with regulated institutions. No material impairment 
allowances were recognised on initial adoption of IFRS 9 and there was no change 
during the period. 

 
Impairment 
 
For a discussion of inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating 
impairments, see accounting policy at note 6.  
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the company considers reasonable 
and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or 
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the company’s historical experience and third party policies including 
forward-looking information.  
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 
 
Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 
 
The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:  
 
- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) at the reporting date; with  
- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time 

of initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in 
prepayment expectations).  

 
The company uses two criteria for determining whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk:  
 
- quantitative test based on movement in PD; and 
- qualitative indicators. 
 
Credit risk is deemed to increase significantly where the credit rating of a security 
decreased from grade 1 to grade 3 and the risk grade of loans have moved from 
grade 1 (standards) to grade 3 (sub-standard). 
 
As a backstop, the company considers that a significant increase in credit risk 
occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due are 
determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in 
respect of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are determined 
without considering any grace period that might be available to the borrower. 
 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk 
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to 
being measured as 12-month ECL. 
 
Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or 
forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the 
indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group determines a probation 
period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour to 
provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. 
 
When the contractual terms of an asset have been modified (see ‘Modified financial 
assets’ below), evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer 
met includes a history of up-to date payment performance against the modified 
contractual terms.  
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

The Company monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant 
increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that:  
 
- the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an 

exposure is in default.  
- the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past 

due;  
- the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and 

default appears reasonable.  
- exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement to 

credit-impaired; and  
- there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month 

PD (Stage 1) and lifetime PD (Stage 2). 
 
Definition of default: 
 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

 
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the company in full, without 

recourse by the company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 
- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the 

company.  
 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the company considers indicators that are:  
 
- qualitative: e.g. indicators of financial distress;  
- quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same 

issuer to the company; and  
- based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.  

 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their 
significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.  

 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 

 
The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the company for regulatory 
capital purposes. 
 
The company incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of 
whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial 
recognition and the measurement of ECL. 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 
 

For 2023, forward-looking information was incorporated in the ECL computation by use 
of a management overlay. Based on the economic factors a proxy of 1.06 (2022: 1.00) 
times ECL was determined to be appropriate. 
 
The economic scenarios used as at December 31, 2023 assumed no significant changes in 
key indicators within the next year. 
 
Measurement of ECL 

 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are of the following variables:  
- probability of default (PD);  
- loss given default (LGD); and  
- exposure at default (EAD).  

 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and 
EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD. They 
are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate. 

 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The company estimates LGD 
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted 
counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, 
counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial 
asset. They are based on published reports of the major rating agencies Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s.  
 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The company derives the 
EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current 
amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial 
asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default.  
 
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 
financial assets, the company measures ECL considering the risk of default over the 
maximum contractual period over which it is exposed to credit risks, even if, for credit 
note management purposes, the Company considers a longer period. 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Loss allowance 
 
The loss allowance recognised is analysed as follow: 

 
  2023 
  Stage 1 
  $’000 
Financial investments – not underlying items 
Debt securities at amortized cost 
Balance as at 1 January  6,419 
Net remeasurement of loss allowance  (4,662) 
Balance as at 31 December  1,757 

 
Debt securities at FVOCI 
Balance as at 1 January  248 
Net remeasurement of loss allowance  (243) 
Balance as at 31 December      5 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Balance as at 1 January  839 
Net remeasurement of loss allowance  160 
Balance as at 31 December  999 

 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 
 
Credit exposure 
 
Credit risk exposure to the Company at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 
without taking account of any credit enhancements, is as follows:   

 
 Investment securities 

 
    2023 2022 
    $’000 $’000 

 
Corporate bonds  226,003 174,153 
Government of Jamaica Securities  129,188 129,533 
Other Global bonds     50,398   49,323 

   405,589 353,009 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses  (    1,576)        -       

   404,013 353,009 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial and insurance liabilities. The company is exposed to daily calls on its 
available cash resources mainly from claims arising from insurance contracts. Liquidity 
risk may arise from a number of potential areas, such as a duration mismatch between 
assets and liabilities and unexpectedly high levels of claims. The nature of the company’s 
exposures to liquidity risk and its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
liquidity risk have not changed significantly from the prior year. 
 

 Management of liquidity risk  
 
 The company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 

have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to its reputation. 
Consequently, the company invests in marketable securities that can be readily realised as 
its obligations under insurance contracts fall due and in the event of reasonably 
foreseeable abnormal circumstances.   The company also manages this risk by keeping a 
substantial portion of its financial assets in liquid form, in accordance with regulatory 
guidelines.  The company is subject to an early warning ratio imposed by the Financial 
Services Commission (FSC).  The key measure used for assessing liquidity risk is the 
liquid assets (as defined) to total liabilities ratio. The liquid assets to total liabilities ratio at 
the end of the year is 62% (2022: 108%).  The FSC standard liquid assets to total 
liabilities ratio is 95%. 

 
 An analysis of the contractual maturities of the company’s financial and insurance contract 

liabilities indicates that financial liabilities are less than one year and the projection of 
insurance contract liabilities are not plausible.   

  
 (c) Market risk 
 
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign 

exchange rates and equity prices will affect the value of the company’s assets, the amount 
of its liabilities and/or the company’s income. Market risk arises in the company due to 
fluctuations in the value of liabilities and the value of investments held. The company is 
exposed to market risk on all of its financial assets.  

 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. The nature of the 
company’s exposures to market risks and its objectives, policies and processes for 
managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior period.  
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 
Management of market risk 
 
The Investment Committee manages market risks in accordance with its asset/liability 
management framework. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its 
activities. For each of the major components of market risk the company has policies and 
procedures in place which detail how each risk should be managed and monitored. The 
management of each of these major components of major risk and the exposure of the 
company at the reporting date to each major risk are addressed below.  

 
(i) Interest rate risk  
 

Interest rate risk arises primarily from the company’s investments. The company 
manages its interest rate risk by matching, where possible, the duration and profile of 
assets and liabilities to minimise the impact of mismatches between the value of assets 
and liabilities from interest rate movements.  
 
Interest bearing financial assets are primarily represented by long term investments, 
which have been contracted at fixed interest rates for the duration of the term. 
 
The nature of the company’s exposures to interest rate risk and its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing interest rate risk have not changed significantly from the 
prior period.  
 
At the reporting date the interest profile of the company’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments was: 

  Carrying amount  
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 

 Fixed rate instruments: 
 Financial assets 852,671 644,814 
  
  Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
 
 The company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss.  Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date 
would not affect fair value changes in profit before tax. 

 
 An increase or decrease in interest rates at the reporting date would have 

decreased/(increased) equity as outlined below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2022. 

103



 
71 

 
IRONROCK INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
Year ended December 31, 2023  
 
 

 

24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
 Sensitivity      Effect on Equity     Effect on Equity  
    Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 
      $’000 $’000 

December 31, 2023      
 Fixed rate instruments – J$ 0.25 % 0.25% 1,742 (   1742) 
   – US$ 0.25 % 0.25% 402 (   402)  
 

December 31, 2022      
 Fixed rate instruments – J$ 1% 0.5% 4,390 (2,195) 
   – US$ 1% 0.5% 2,036 (1,018)  

 
(ii) Currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the market value of or cash flows from financial 
instruments will vary because of exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
The company incurs foreign currency risk primarily on insurance and reinsurance 
contracts and investments that are denominated in a currency other than the Jamaica 
dollar. Such exposure comprises the monetary assets and liabilities of the company 
that are not denominated in that currency. The principal foreign currency risk of the 
company is denominated in United States dollars (US$). The company has foreign 
currency exposure in the underwriting of policies and the settlement of claims and 
reinsurance denominated in foreign currency. The company have financial assets in 
currency similar to those we have to settle.   The company manages its exposure to 
an acceptable level by purchasing the or selling assets. 
 

  At the reporting date, the company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows: 
 

   2023 2022 
  Foreign currency assets:  US$’000 US$’000 
  Investments  1,018 1,388  
  Premium receivable  927 640 
  Cash and cash equivalents 218 110 
  Interest receivable     168      22 
    2,330 2,160 
  Foreign currency liabilities: 
  Other payables  1,157    347 
  Net foreign currency assets 1,173   1,813 
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24. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Currency risk (continued) 
 

  Exchange rates for the US dollar, in terms of Jamaica dollars were as follows: 

  At December 31, 2023: $153.58 
  At December 31, 2022: $149.63 

 
A 4% (2022: 4%) strengthening of the Jamaica dollar against the United States dollar 
at December 31, would have decreased the profit before tax for the year by $7,202,000 
(2022: $10,875,000). 
 
A 1% (2022: 1%) weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the United States dollar at 
December 31, would have increased the profit before tax for the year by $1,801,000 
(2022: $2,719,000). 
 

  (iii) Equity price risk  
 

Equity price risk arises from equity securities held by the company as part of its 
investment portfolio.  Management monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in 
its investment portfolio based on market expectations.  The primary goal of the 
company’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns. 
 
A 6% (2022: 6%) increase in the bid price at the reporting date would cause an 
increase in equity of $7,503,924 (2022: $6,738,518). 
 
A 3% (2022: 6%) decrease in the bid price at the reporting date would cause a 
decrease in equity of $3,751,962 (2022: $6,738,518).   

 
 

25. Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 
associated with the company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from 
external factors other than financial risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory 
requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  
 
The company’s objective is to manage operational risk to balance the avoidance of financial 
losses and damage to its reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control 
procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address 
operational risk is assigned to senior management within each department.  The Audit 
Committee monitors each department to ensure compliance with the company’s internal control 
procedures. 
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26. Capital risk management  
 
Capital risk is the risk that the company fails to comply with mandated regulatory requirements, 
resulting in a breach of its minimum capital test and the possible suspension or loss of its 
insurance license (see note 2). The company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a 
broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the statements of financial position, are:  

 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the insurance industry; 
(ii) To safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide returns for stockholders and benefits to other stakeholders; and 
(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 
Capital adequacy is managed by the company’s management. It is calculated by management, 
certified by the Appointed Actuary and reviewed by executive management, the audit committee 
and the board of directors.  In addition, the company seeks to maintain internal capital adequacy 
ratios at levels higher than the regulatory requirements. To assist in evaluating the current 
business and strategic opportunities, the company currently uses the Minimum Capital Test 
(MCT) as stipulated by the insurance regulations.  
 
The regulator requires general insurance companies to achieve a Minimum Capital Test Ratio of 
150% (2022: 175%).  At December 31, 2023, the company’s capital ratio was 316% (2022: 
271%). 

 
 

27. Fair value of financial instruments 
 

(a) Definition and measurement of fair values 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Where a 
quoted market price is not available, fair value is computed using alternative techniques, 
making use of available input data; the company uses observable data as far as possible. 
 
Fair values are categorized into different levels in a three-level fair value hierarchy, based 
on the degree to which the inputs used in the valuation techniques are observable. The 
different levels in the hierarchy have been defined as follows: 

 
(b) Techniques for measuring fair value of financial instruments 

 
Level 1 –  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

This level includes equity securities and debt instruments listed on exchanges.  
 
Level 2 –  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices). This includes financial assets with fair values based on 
broker quotes and investments in funds with fair values obtained via fund 
managers. 
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27. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Techniques for measuring fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
Level 3 –  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt 
instruments with significant unobservable components. This hierarchy requires 
the use of observable market data when available.  

 
Type of financial instrument Method of estimation of fair value 

Government of Jamaica securities and 
corporate bonds 

Discounting future cash flows of these 
securities at the estimated reporting 
date using yields published by a 
broker.   

US$ Global bonds Prices of bonds at reporting date as 
quoted by broker/dealer, where 
available. 

Cash equivalents, resale agreements, 
insurance and other receivables, insurance 
and other payables, reinsurance assets, 
insurance contract provisions and due from 
related party. 

Units in unit trusts 

Quoted equities and unitised funds 

 

Considered to approximate their 
carrying values. 
 
 
 
Prices quoted by unit trust managers. 
 

 
Bid prices published by the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange and fund managers 
respectively. 
 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year. 
 

(c) Accounting classification and fair values 
 

The tables below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value (which are classified as 
fair value through profit or loss or OCI) and those not carried at fair value (which are 
classified as amortised cost) but for which fair value has been disclosed. 
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27. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

(c) Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 

The fair value of certain short-term financial instruments such as cash and cash 
equivalents, securities under resale agreement, premiums and other receivables was 
determined to approximate their carrying value and are not disclosed in the tables below. 
 

  2023  
 Carrying  Fair value  
 amount Level 1 Level 2 Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Fair value through  
   profit or loss: 
 
Units in unit trusts 898 898 -       898 
Quoted equities 49,219  49,219 -       49,219 
Preference shares 74,948  74,948 -       74,948 
Fair value through OCI: 
Global Bonds – TT 50,398 -       50,398 50,398 
 
Amortised cost: 
Securities purchased under 
   resale agreements -       -       -            -       
Corporate bonds 224,798 -       226,475 226,475 
GOJ Bonds 128,817       -       132,848 132,848  
  529,078 125,065 409,721 534,786  
Short-term investments 101,442       -       101,397 101,397  

 
 
  2022  

 Carrying  Fair value  
 amount Level 1 Level 2 Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Fair value through  
   profit or loss: 
Units in unit trusts 984 984 -       984 
Preference shares 60,319 60,319 -       60,319 
Quoted equities 51,991 51,991   -       51,991 
Fair value through OCI: 
Global Bonds – TT 49,323      -       49,323 49,323 
 
Amortised cost: 
Securities purchased under 
   resale agreements 90,000 90,000 -       90,000 
Corporate bonds 174,153      -       171,709 171,709 
GOJ Bonds 129,533      -       136,270 136,270 
  556,303 203,394 357,302 560,596 
Short-term investments 186,804      -       186,804 186,804 
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28. IFRS 17 Restatement Note 
 

The company has adopted IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts effective January 1, 2023. The 
following tables summarize the transition impact on the company’s financial statements: 

 
  2021  

    December Effect of Restated 1 
    31, 2021 IFRS 17 January 2022 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Assets 
Property, plant and equipment   20,485 -       20,485 
Intangible Assets    3,190 -       3,190 
Deferred taxation    7,992 -       7,992 
Investments    634,850 -       634,850 
Reinsurance Assets    408,323 (408,323) -        
Reinsurance contract assets           -         158,444 158,444 
Deferred acquisition costs    46,849 (  46,849) -        
Due From Related Party    2,984 -       2,984 
Receivables    224,334 (213,831) 10,503 
Taxation recoverable    32,966 -       32,966 
Short term investment    80,525 -       80,525 
Securities purchased under  
   resale agreements    15,275 -       15,275 
Cash and cash equivalents         69,637       -            69,637 
     1,547,410 (510,559) 1,036,851 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
 
Liabilities  
Other payables    224,917 (199,146) 25,771 
Deferred commission income    55,302 (  55,302)       -        
Insurance contract provision    647,546 (647,546)       -        
Insurance contract liabilities           -         364,140    364,140 
        927,765 (537,854)    389,911 
 
Shareholders Equity  
Share Capital    465,540 -       465,540 
Capital Reserves     139,340 -       139,340 
Investment revaluation reserve    3,381 -       3,381 
Retained Earnings         11,384   27,295      38,679 
        619,645   27,295    646,940 
 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' 
   Equity    1,547,410 (510,559) 1,036,851 
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28. IFRS 17 Restatement Note (continued) 
 

  2022  
 Restated  

    December Effect of  December  
    31, 2022 IFRS 17 31, 2022 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Assets 
Property, plant and equipment   18,717 -       18,717 
Intangible assets    2,548 -       2,548 
Deferred taxation    6,318 -       6,318 
Investments    466,303 -       466,303 
Reinsurance assets    613,207 (613,207) -        
Reinsurance contract assets           -       273,902 273,902 
Deferred acquisition costs    54,265 (  54,265) -        
Due from related party    2,984 -       2,984 
Receivables    263,602 (249,648) 13,954 
Taxation recoverable    39,903  -       39,903 
Short term investment    186,804 -       186,804 
Securities purchased under  
resale agreements    90,000 -       90,000 
Cash and cash equivalents       142,404       -          142,404 
     1,887,055 (643,218) 1,243,837 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
Liabilities  
Other payables    305,017 (269,774) 35,243 
Deferred commission income   69,383 (  69,383)       -         
Insurance contract provision    867,669 (867,669)       -        
Insurance contract liabilities           -         530,834    530,834 
     1,242,069 (675,992)    566,077 
Shareholders Equity  
Share capital    465,540 -       465,540 
Capital reserves     139,340 -       139,340 
Investment revaluation reserve    572 -       572 
Retained earnings         39,534   32,774      72,308 
        644,986   32,774    677,760 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' 
   Equity    1,887,055 (643,218) 1,243,837 
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29. Segmental information 
 
Segment information below represents segment revenue and expenses based on the company’s 
lines of business. Segment information for insurance liabilities is presented in note 23(c). 

 
  2023  

   Liability Property Motor Other Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Revenue   790,441 94,508 289,119 221,293 1,395,361 
Insurance service expense     72,709 181,901 218,305   82,679    555,594 

 
 

  2022   
   Liability Property Motor Other Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
Revenue   86,497 493,313 239,075 173,010 991,895 
Insurance service expense     48,321 135,061 256,705   37,777 477,864 
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